Public Document Pack
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services - Executive Members & Corporate Director Meetings Department
Monday, 14 June 2021 / 2.00 pm

AGENDA
1

Apologies for Absence

2

Declarations of Interest

3

Exclusion of the public from the meeting during consideration of item(s) # on the grounds
that it/they each involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the
paragraph(s) # of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to information)(Variation) Order 2006

Items for Executive Member decision
Items for Corporate Director decision
4

Introduction of the Dynamic Purchasing System for the Passenger
Transport Service (Pages 3 - 8)

Catherine Price

5

DMMO Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre (Pages 9 - 22)

Ron Allan

6

DMMO Leys Barn Lothersdale PPO-Decision (Pages 23 - 40)

Ron Allan

7

DMMO Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth and Ilton-Cum-Pott (Pages 41
- 54)

Ron Allan

8

DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business
Recycling in England (Pages 55 - 86)

Peter Jeffreys

9

Household Waste Recycling Centre Service Provision (Pages 87 - 98)

Kerry Green

10

Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas - Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph
Speed Limit (Pages 99 - 112)

Neil Linfoot

11

Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane,
Middleton Tyas (Pages 113 - 130)

Neil Linfoot

Any Other Business
12

Date of future formal meetings

Circulation:
Executive Members
Andrew Lee
Don Mackenzie

Officer attendees
Karl Battersby
Jane Connolly
Michael Leah

Page 1
OFFICIAL

Presenting Officers
Catherine Price
Ron Allan
Peter Jeffreys
Kerry Green
Neil Linfoot

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
14 June 2021
Introduction of Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS)
for the procurement of Passenger Transport Services
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To seek approval to proceed with the introduction of a Dynamic Purchasing System to
procure passenger transport services across North Yorkshire.

2.0

Background

2.1

Integrated Passenger Transport procure transport contracts to meet the requirements
of Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS), Health and Adult Services (HAS)
and Business and Environmental Services (BES) transport services. We work with
around 200 contractors who provide a combination of taxi, coach and bus services
and have up to 1700 contracts in place at any one time.

2.2

The team procure a variety of contracts on a daily basis and where possible prices
are requested from contractors through the YORtender electronic system. However,
where urgent, short notice or emergency transport is needed, phone and email
quotations are also used as a method of seeking prices for such Ad Hoc cases.

2.3

In addition to the day to day procurement, currently, Integrated Passenger Transport
(IPT) undertakes to re-evaluate all of its subsidised home to school and subsidised
LBS contracts across North Yorkshire through a programme of area reviews; the
county is split into 4 review areas, the whole cycle taking 4 years to complete. The
procurement is then undertaken using OJEU processes on the electronic YORtender
system.

2.4

SEN contracts are also reviewed on a 2-3 yearly cycle and are procured through
YORtender via the OJEU process.

2.5

HAS contracts are mainly delivered through the Councils “in house” fleet of
minibuses. However, some clients require alternative transport due to the nature of
their needs and or the location of their care provision. These additional services are
procured by tendering taxi contracts as and when required.

2.6

The current system is well rehearsed and executed and has worked well for many
years but means that repeated, time consuming, full OJEU procurement processes
have to take place throughout the year alongside daily short term quotation solutions.

3.0

What is a DPS?

3.1

A DPS is a type of Framework Agreement. A tender process is used to put in place a
list of suppliers that can be used as and when work is required. No contracts are

Page 3
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/1

formed from an award of DPS and each individual mini-competition forms its own
individual contract under the specification and terms and conditions already set out in
the DPS agreement.
3.2

In a traditional Framework Agreement, after the tender is awarded only those
suppliers that were successful can be allocated work therefore those that were
unsuccessful or did not submit a tender cannot be used. Where a DPS differs is that
the selection stage of the tender remains open for the entire duration of the DPS
which means suppliers can submit a response and attempt to get onto the DPS at
any time and as many times as they wish.

3.3

The DPS will result in a supplier list being created from successful tenderers. It will be
used whenever a need arises for a mini-competition to select the best value supplier
in each case. The Supplier List has the potential to grow throughout the life of the
DPS which may maintain and improve competitiveness.

3.4

The DPS will be used for all Education, Social Care and LBS transport requirements
during its life. Which means the Council will not have to undergo multiple full
procurement exercises thus making the contracting process more streamlined.

4.0

Consultation/Fact finding

4.1

Officers from Legal services, Procurement Team and IPT visited East Riding Council
to see how their DPS worked in practice and to discuss the pros and cons of using it.
Officers also met with Norfolk Council who run a successful DPS for a question and
answer session which was very useful.

4.2

Examples of DPS being used in other authorities to procure transport services have
been researched and used to help to shape our proposed approach.

4.3

Some work with transport providers has been undertaken to ask for their views about
how best we can engage with then in relation to tendering in the future.

5.0

Legal Implications

5.1

“The DPS is a procedure available for contracts for works, services and goods
commonly available on the market. As a procurement tool, it has some aspects that
are similar to an electronic framework agreement, but where new suppliers can join
at any time. However, it has its own specific set of requirements. It is to be run as a
completely electronic process, and should be set up (by a local Authority) using the
restricted procedure and some other conditions as set out in Regulation 34 of the
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR 2015).

5.2

Regulation 34 of the PCR 2015 sets out the rules on DPS. Regulation 34(5) states
that in order to procure under a DPS, contracting authorities should follow the rules of
the restricted procedure, and subject to the provisions of clause 34. Therefore,
Regulations that apply to the Restricted Procedure, and to procedures generally,
apply to the DPS, except where regulation 34 specifically alters or dis-applies them.”

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse equality impacts
arising from the proposed standards. It is the view of officers that the proposals will

Page 4
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/2

not have significant adverse impact on any groups of people with protected
characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010. Proper regard has been given to
the public sector equality duty and a ‘decision not to EIA’ document has been
completed and is appended at Appendix 2.
7.0

Financial Implications

7.1

The DPS would replace the current system of procuring transport services over an
initial 5 year period. It is not anticipated that its introduction will provide cashable
savings but will reduce the amount of time and processes required on an ongoing
basis.

7.2

The total budget per annum for transport services amounts to around £26m and the
DPS contract would be used to procure services in line with the renewal of contracts
as and when they are required during that period using allocated budgets.

8.0

Climate Change Implications

8.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse climate change
impacts arising from the recommendation. A Climate Change Impact Assessment is
included as Appendix 3 of this report. There are no adverse impacts as a result of the
decision.

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director – BES, in consultation with BES
Executive Members agrees to proceed with the introduction of a Dynamic Purchasing
System for the future procurement of transport services.

Michael Leah
Assistant Director - Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Report author: Catherine Price
Background documents: None

Page 5
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/3

Initial equality impact assessment screening form
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of equality to a proposal, and a
decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate or proportionate.

Business and Environmental Services
Integrated Passenger Transport
Introduction of a Dynamic Purchasing System for the
procurement of Transport Services
Catherine Price, Contract & Commissioning Manager
Graham Pearey, Category Procurement Officer

Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened
Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

Introduce a Dynamic Purchasing System to procure
passenger transport services across North Yorkshire

Why are you proposing this? What are the
desired outcomes?

To create a list of approved tenderers
To remove the need for multiple OJEU procurement
exercises-cutting down on process and duplicated effort
each year.
To encourage new providers to the market through
simplified processes.
To maintain and improve competitiveness across the
market

Does the proposal involve a significant
No
commitment or removal of resources?
Please give details.
Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by the Equality
Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristics
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be an adverse impact or you have
ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be carried out where this is
proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Potential for adverse impact
Yes

Age
Disability
Sex
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristics
People in rural areas

No

Don’t know/No
info available

No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

Page 6
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/4

People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area where
there are known inequalities/probable
impacts (e.g. disabled people’s access to
public transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant effect
on how other organisations operate? (e.g.
partners, funding criteria, etc.). Do any of
these organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please explain
why you have reached this conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)
Reason for decision
Signed (Assistant Director or equivalent)

No
No
No

No, the proposal will have no significant effect on
how other organisations work.

EIA not
relevant or
proportionate:

X

Continue to full
EIA:

No adverse impact is anticipated.
Michael Leah

Date

07 06 2021

Page 7
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/5

Climate change impact assessment

Appendix 2

The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 8

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal

Introduction of a Dynamic Purchasing System for the procurement of
Transport Services

Brief description of proposal

Introduce a Dynamic Purchasing System to procure passenger transport services
across North Yorkshire

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Business and Environmental Services
IPT
Catherine Price
May 2021
NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/6

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.
N/A
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
The proposed introduction of a DPS will allow procurement to be undertaken through framework type agreement. Whilst it is not anticipated that tender prices
will reduce due to the introduction of the system it is hoped that we can maximise competition in the market to our advantage and see an increase in interested
providers.

Emissions
from travel

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Positive impact

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

No impact

Page 9

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

The budgets used to procure transport services to meet the Councils statutory duties in relation to transport are expected to remain the same following the
introduction of the DPS

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/7

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

X

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing use

X

Page 10

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.
reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X

X

of single use plastic

Reduce water consumption

X

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

X

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/8

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood risk,

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X

Page 11

mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

Enhance conservation and wildlife

X

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

X

Other (please state below)

X

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/9

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.

N/A

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.

The introduction of a new procurement system will not have an impact on the environment.

Page 12

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Catherine Price
Contract and Commissioning Manager
Integrated Passenger Transport
Business and Environmental Services
Catherine Price
21 May 2021

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Michael Leah, Assistant Director, Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Date: 1/6/2021

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/10

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Page 13
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Introduction of DPS for Transport Services/11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
North Yorkshire County Council
Executive Members
14 June 2021
Opposed Bridleway no. 15.29/78 and Restricted Byway 15.29/79 Heyshaw to Lanes
Foot Road, Dacre. Modification Order 2020
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environment and Countryside Services

1.0

Purpose of the report

1.1

To advise the Corporate Director of Business and Environmental Services (BES) of
the proposed submission to the Secretary of State (SoS) of an opposed Definitive
Map Modification Order (DMMO). A location Plan 1 and a more detailed Plan 2 are
attached to this report within Appendix A.

1.2

To request the Corporate Director, in consultation with the Executive Member for
Open to Business, authorise that North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC), in its
submission of the opposed Order to the SoS will support confirmation of the Order.

2.0

Background

2.1

The application for the DMMO was submitted to the County Council in December 2017.

2.2

The application was supported by

OS Maps
Sheet 136 Yorkshire: 6” to mile 1854
Sheet 136 – 13 Yorkshire: 25” to mile 1909
Sheet 61: 1” to mile 1898
Sheet SE 16:
2 ½ inch to mile 1952

Dacre Pasture Inclosure Award and Map 1844

Dacre Heyshaw moor and Braithwaite Moor Inclosure Award and Map 1876

Dacre Parish Tithe Map 1843

Dacre Parish Township Map 1852

NPAC Process Correspondence – Dacre PC letter & Annexe 5/12/1970

Draft DM Map Sheet 136SW

Ordnance Survey Object Names Book for 136SW 1907-1909

Bartholomew’s ½ inch Map Sheet 6 1906

Inland Revenue Valuation Maps 1910

Highways Handover Map 1919/30 for West Riding now in North Yorkshire

Storey’s Motoring Map c1926

Extract from NYCC online PROW map showing roads accessed Dec 2017

2.3

Objections were received during the Informal Consultation Process.

2.4

Attached to this report as Appendix A is a copy of the report submitted to the Assistant
Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services 15 September 2020.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/1

Page 15

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

2.5

The Assistant Director, Transport, Waste and Countryside Services approved the
making of a DMMO which was subsequently advertised, attracting objections from
two landowners which remain outstanding. The County Council cannot confirm a
DMMO where there are outstanding objections; the Order must be forwarded to the
Secretary of State for resolution.

3.0

Representation made by the local member

3.1

No formal representations were received from the local councillor in response to the
consultations regarding the Modification Order.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

As the evidence submitted consists only of documentary evidence, not user
evidence, it is probable that the Order would be resolved by written representations.

4.2

There would be an unavoidable cost to the Authority in preparing a submission to the
SoS, and responding to any queries raised by the SoS. These costs would be officer
time which would be met by the respective staffing budgets.

5.0

Equalities Implications

5.1

It is the view that the recommendations do not have an adverse impact on any of the
protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

6.0

Legal Implications

6.1

The opposed Diversion Order would be determined by an Inspector appointed by the
SoS, and, as stated above, determination will most likely be by way of written
representations.

6.2

The Inspector, on the basis of the evidence and the legal criteria will decide whether
or not to confirm the opposed Modification Order. If he/she decides to confirm the
Order, the routes will be amended on the Definitive Map and statement in
accordance with the details within the Modification Order.

7.0

Climate Change Implications

7.1

The proposal is to alter the status of routes already recorded as public routes within
the County Council’s records. The confirmation of this order would have no positive
or negative impact on climate change.

8.0

Current Decision to be made

8.1

In submitting an opposed Order to the SoS the County Council needs to express
whether, on the basis of the available evidence, it;

supports confirmation of the Order,

believes the Order should not be confirmed, or

considers the evidence is either so finely balanced, or is particularly unclear
and wishes to take a neutral stance.

8.2

The current decision to be made is which stance the County Council is to take within
its submission of this opposed DMMO to the SoS.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/2

Page 16

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

8.3

The two objections received challenge the interpretation of the evidence submitted by
the applicant, on the basis that that they do not believe that it has been shown on the
balance of probabilities the Order should be confirmed.

8.4

However, no evidence has been provided to satisfactorily counter the evidence in
support of the Order.

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

That the Corporate Director – BES, in consultation with the Executive Member for
Open to Business approves that the Authority should support confirmation of the
Order in its submission to the SoS.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director Travel, Environment and Countryside Services

Author of report: Ron Allan

Background papers: File Ref : HAR-2017-15-DMMO Dacre (Lanes Foot Rd to Heyshaw)

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/3

Page 17

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

North Yorkshire County Council
Executive Members
14 June 2021
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environment and
Countryside Services
Opposed Bridleway no. 15.29/78 and Restricted Byway 15.29/79 Heyshaw to Lanes
Foot Road, Dacre. Modification Order 2020

AUTHORISATION
I approve / do not approve the recommendation set out above
………………………………………………………………………………………………….
ANY ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATION or COMMENT:
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………

Karl Battersby
Corporate Director - BES
Signed: ……………………………….…Date: ………………….………

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/4

Page 18

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
North Yorkshire County Council
Report to the Assistant Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services
15 September 2020
Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to upgrade Footpath No. 15.29/42
(part) to a Bridleway, upgrade Footpath No. 15.29/42 (part) to a Restricted Byway and
to upgrade Bridleway No 15.29/38 (part) to a Restricted Bridleway,
Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre.
1.0

Purpose of the report

1.1

To advise the Assistant Director of an application for a Definitive Map Modification
Order to; upgrade Footpath No. 15.29/42 (part) to a Bridleway, upgrade Footpath No.
15.29/42 (part) to a Restricted Byway and to upgrade Bridleway No 15.29/38 (part) to
a Restricted Bridleway Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre. A location plan is
attached to this report as Plan 1. The route is shown in detail as A - H on Plan 2.

1.2

To request the Assistant Director to authorise the making of a Definitive Map
Modification Order to upgrade an existing footpath and an existing bridleway to a
restricted byway along the application route based on evidence of existing higher
rights than Footpath and Bridleway, discovered during investigation into the
application.

2.0

Scheme of delegation

2.1

Within the County Council’s scheme of delegation, it is delegated to the Assistant
Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services to exercise the functions of the
Council under Part III of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 in relation to the power
to make and advertise Definitive Map Modification Orders, including where an objection
has been received from any person or body.

3.0

The application
Applicant:
Date of application:
Type of Application
Parish:
Local Member:
Application
supported by:

The British Horse Society
20/12/2017
Definitive Map Modification Order
Dacre
Councillor Stanley Lumley
OS Maps
 Sheet 136 Yorkshire: 6” to mile 1854
 Sheet 136 – 13 Yorkshire: 25” to mile 1909
List of documentary
 Sheet 61: 1” to mile 1898
evidence:
 Sheet SE 16:
 2 ½ inch to mile 1952
Dacre Pasture Inclosure Award and Map 1844
Dacre Heyshaw Moor and Braithwaite Moor Inclosure Award
and Map 1876
Dacre Parish Tithe Map 1843
Dacre Parish Township Map 1852

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/5

Page 19

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
NPAC Process Correspondence – Dacre PC letter & Annexe
5/12/1970
Draft DM Map Sheet 136SW
Ordnance Survey Object Names Book for 136SW 1907-1909
Bartholomew’s ½ inch Map Sheet 6 1906
Inland Revenue Valuation Maps 1910
Highways Handover Map 1919/30 for West Riding now in North
Yorkshire
Storey’s Motoring Map c1926
Extract from NYCC online PROW map showing roads accessed
Dec 2017
Applicant’s
grounds for making
the application

To record rights consistent with historical evidence.

4.0

Relevant legal criteria

4.1

In deciding whether to make a Modification Order, the County Council must be satisfied
that, in accordance with Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, the
evidence discovered by the County Council, when taken into consideration with all
other relevant evidence, is sufficient to show that a public right of way subsists or is
reasonably alleged to subsist along the claimed route.

4.2

For routes which are already recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement, but where the
application is to amend the status of the route, the evidence required must meet the higher
“balance of probabilities” test.

4.3

The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERCA 2006), Parliament
legislated to extinguish certain unrecorded rights of way for mechanically propelled
vehicles (motor vehicles) by a blanket provision, with a commencement date for the
Act of 2 May 2006, subject to certain exceptions referred to below but acknowledged
that there were inevitably applications for BOATs waiting to be investigated by highway
authorities. Therefore, Section 67(3) allowed that any motor vehicular rights had not
been extinguished by the blanket provision if:
“(a) before the relevant date, an application was made under section 53(5) of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an order making modifications to the
definitive map and statement so as to show the way as a byway open to all
traffic”.

4.4

The “relevant date” given within the Act was 20 January 2005. This, in effect, provided
a backdated cut-off date for existing applications to provide rights for mechanically
propelled vehicles, namely a BOAT.

4.5

This application was submitted after the relevant date of 20 January 2005, therefore,
once investigated, if vehicular rights were proved to exist the route could only be
recorded as a restricted byway (which excludes motor vehicle rights), unless it could
be demonstrated that one of the exceptions as set out under Section 67(2) of the
NERCA 2006 was applicable.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/6

Page 20

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
4.6

The only exception that was considered as potentially relevant to the application route
is Section 67(2)(a). This provides that any motor vehicular right had not been
extinguished by the Act if:
“(a) it is over a way whose main lawful use by the public during the period of 5 years
ending with commencement was use for mechanically propelled vehicles”.

4.7

“Commencement” is the date at which the Act became effective, that is, 2 May 2006.

4.8

After consideration of the evidence provided to the County Council it was considered
that the application did not present evidence that that public use of the application route
during the relevant period was predominantly by motor vehicle.

4.9

Officers concluded therefore, that the highest rights that could exist on the application
route were those of restricted byway.

5.0

User evidence and documentary evidence

5.1

The applicant has submitted a substantial body of historical documentary evidence as
listed above which, when taken together, is sufficient to justify on the balance of
probabilities that the route subsists with the status claimed by the applicant.

The Yorkshire: 6” to mile 1854 and 25” to mile 1909 OS maps both show the
route in a manner consistent with the claimed status.

The OS 1” to mile 1898 map shows the application route depicted as a Third
Class Metalled Road consistent with rights higher than currently recorded.

The OS 2 ½ inch to mile 1952 shows the route without any annotation. A footpath
to the north is marked as FP and the lack of any annotation indicates that the
route was of higher status than a footpath (the FP annotation being used to
describe those routes that were only suitable for pedestrian use).

The Dacre Pasture Inclosure Award and Map 1844 shows an occupation road
between Points F and H and mentions an “ancient gate” where the track
continues towards Heyshaw, which would support the claim for a route
continuing to Heyshaw.

The Dacre Heyshaw Moor and Braithwaite Moor Inclosure Award and Map 1876
sets out a public carriage road in Heyshaw village which shows an opening at
the eastern end of the village where the current footpath joins the highway, this
would indicate that the public carriage road continued eastwards out of the
village.

The Dacre Parish Tithe Map 1843 does not show the route.

Dacre Parish Township Map 1852 shows the route in a manner consistent with
the claimed status, namely as a Bridleway from Point A to Point F and thence to
Point H as an enclosed Highway.

The NPAC Act 1949 process documents refer to correspondence between Dacre
Town Council and the West Riding County Council in which the Town Council
queried the recording of the route on the draft map as a footpath and it was
agreed that this would be addressed at a later stage. The implication here is that
the route was wrongly recorded as a footpath but due to the local authority reorganisation in 1974 the planned review of the Definitive Map did not occur and
the status was not corrected.

The Ordnance Survey Object Names Book for 136SW 1907-1909 records the
section of Lane Foot Road between points F and H as a “Road” which would
support a higher status than bridleway.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/7

Page 21

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A








Bartholomew’s ½ inch Map Sheet 6 1906 shows the entire claimed route as an
“Indifferent Road” being a road available for use by cyclists who did not at the
time of publication have the right to use bridleways and which supports the
claimed higher rights on the route.
The Inland Revenue Valuation Maps of 1910 does not show the section of the
route between Points A and F, it does show the section between Points F and H,
which the applicant claims, are shown as “white roads” and hence public
highways.
The Highways Handover Map 1919/30 for West Riding now in North Yorkshire
shows the Lanes Foot Road section of the route between Points F and H shaded
in brown whilst the continuation of the route west from Point F is not shown. Monk
Ings Road is shown without colour, whilst Dacre Lane to the south is shown in
yellow, this would appear to indicate that this section of the application route had
a status above that of the remainder of the route but also different to that of Dacre
Lane. The section of the route to the south of Point H and nearby School Lane
at Dacre Banks are also shown in Brown and which are today recorded as
unclassified public roads.
Storey’s Motoring Map c1926 which was a commercially available map and
designed to indicate the routes that the public could use shows the route along
its full length.

5.2

No user evidence relating to the way has been submitted.

6.0

Objections to the application

6.1

Two objections have been submitted; one by the primary landowner and one by the
owners of a property adjacent to the route.

6.2

The primary landowner states that:

he has lived on the property for most of the last 84 years and in that time has
never seen a horse being ridden along any part of the route.

the route of the footpath to be upgraded passes through a dry stone wall via a
stile which has been in place for seventy years thus precluding equestrian use.

he acknowledges that the 1854 OS map depicts part of the route as a Bridle
Road but that this is not repeated on later editions and that the OS map included
the disclaimer regarding public rights of way.

in 1984 both Dacre Parish Council and NYCC in correspondence regarded that
the section between A and F had footpath status only.

the section F – I is shown as an occupation road in the Dacre Enclosures Award
but that this does not imply public rights because an occupation road was only
for those landowners which the road was intended to access.

the footpath section of the route was confirmed by the 20th century legal
processes (it is assumed that by this statement he is referring to the Definitive
Map processes in the 1950s).

he disputes that the section A – F is an Ancient Highway as described in the
Dacre Enclosure Award.

6.3

The adjacent property owners state that they maintain part of the lane at their own
expense, that increased use will lead to increased costs and there will be a detrimental
effect on their privacy.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/8

Page 22

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
7.0

Conclusions regarding the evidence and objections to the application

7.1

The application is based on historical evidence, most of which predates the period that
the landowner has observed the route. No user evidence has been submitted
regarding the application so the comments regarding observed lack of use are not
relevant.

7.2

As the objector claims, there is a stile in a dry stone wall at the end of Heyshaw Lane
and this would appear to be used by the public to access the current walked route
which avoids a farmyard. However, that stile is not on the definitive line (which is some
24 metres away) and is of no relevance to this application.

7.3

It is correct that the route is named as a ‘bridle road’ on only the earliest OS map. In
later editions the route is depicted but is not allocated any status. It should be noted
that OS naming protocols changed over time and that in subsequent editions footpath
or FP are the only notations used in order to distinguish them as routes not suitable for
horses; the implication being that if the FP designation was absent, then the route was
suitable for use by horses. Bridleways are not specifically named on most historic OS
maps but undoubtedly existed.

7.4

The correspondence dated 1984 confirms the status of the footpath section as
recorded on the Definitive Map. No other information has been included on the decision
making process which would shed further light on this matter.

7.5

The term “occupation road” is normally used to describe a road laid out for the benefit
of named occupiers of adjoining properties and may not necessarily be a public
highway. However, in this case there are no named occupiers but the applicant points
out that where a specifically private road has been laid out elsewhere in the Enclosure
Award, the occupiers are named. This may a view that this occupation road was not
specifically designated as private access only.

7.6

It is correct that the route was considered during the preparation and production of the
Definitive Map, and it was determined at that time that it was a footpath, there is no
record of any objections or revisions being made. However, the status recorded on
the Definitive Map does not preclude the possibility of the existence of higher rights.

7.7

An Enclosure Award is considered to be an authoritive record of all matters which are
contained within it. The reference to an ‘ancient lane’ is limited in clarifying historic
rights and the route is not described or laid out as part of the Enclosure Award,
therefore it may well be that the evidential value of that description is open to
interpretation, but it is nevertheless an indication of a pre-existing route of a reasonably
substantial nature.

7.8

The Finance Act 1910 Map shows the route between Points F and G separately from
the adjoining agricultural land and are not assigned to an owner Because this section
of the route is excluded from the assessment in the same manner as the main roads
the implication is that the route a highway, whilst this is not conclusive evidence it is
reasonably persuasive that this was not part of an agricultural holding, was continuous
with the road network and was considered to be so at the time the map was drawn up.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/9

Page 23

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
7.9

Planning Inspectorate Advice Note 9 entitled “General Guidance on public Rights of
Way Matters “, provides the following advice on what matters can be considered by an
Inspector and hence by an OMA –
It is important to note that the purpose of definitive map modification orders and
reclassification orders is to ascertain what rights exist. It is not, for example, to
determine the suitability of a way for particular types of traffic or whether use of a way
may result in loss of amenity or environmental damage.

7.10

The effect of that guidance is to limit what the Authority can consider strictly to weighing
up the evidence submitted by the applicant against any evidence submitted by the
objectors which undermines or refutes that of the applicant.

7.11

In this case the objections submitted do not challenge the applicant’s evidence but rely
on matters which fall outside those which can be considered by the Authority or by an
Inspector should the matter be forwarded to the SoS, and as such have no evidential
value.

7.12

The objections raised therefore have no material effect on the application.

7.13

In conclusion, whilst the documentary evidence is not conclusive as to the extent of
public rights, on the balance of probabilities it seems more likely than not, that the route
between points A – F has higher rights than only footpath.

7.14

No single piece of evidence relating to the application route between Points F and H
can be considered conclusive but it seems likely that public vehicular rights would have
existed between points F – H.

8.0

Representation made by the local member

8.1

None

9.0

Financial implications

9.1

In the event that an Order were to be made and was then opposed, there may be
financial implications for the authority in covering any cost associated with any
subsequent public inquiry. Such costs cannot be avoided where the Planning
Inspectorate decides that a public inquiry should be held to resolve an application. If
an Inquiry were to be held the Authority may need to appoint external advocacy.

10.0

Equalities implications

10.1

There is a statutory requirement to investigate applications for Definitive Map
Modification Orders, regardless as to whether the outcome would benefit or prejudice
owners, occupiers or members of the general public, and as such it is considered that
equality and diversity issues are not relevant to the outcome of the process. In any
event it is considered that the outcome would have no impact on the protected
characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/10

Page 24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
11.0

Recommendation

11.1

It is therefore recommended that: the Assistant Director, Transport, Waste and
Countryside Services, authorises the making of a Definitive Map Modification Order
to record a bridleway between Points A – F and for a Restricted Byway to be
recorded between Points F –H as shown on Plan 2.

Author of Report: Ron Allan

Background Documents:

DMMO Case File: HAR/2017/15 DMMO Dacre (Lanes Foot Rd to Heyshaw)

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/11

Page 25

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
PLAN 1

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/12

Page 26

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

A – F Upgrade FP to BW
F – G Upgrade FP to RB
G – H Upgrade BW to RB

PLAN 2

Appendix A

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/13

Page 27

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
North Yorkshire County Council
Report to the Assistant Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services
15 September 2020
Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to upgrade Footpath No. 15.29/42
(part) to a Bridleway, upgrade Footpath No. 15.29/42 (part) to a Restricted Byway and
to upgrade Bridleway No 15.29/38 (part) to a Restricted Bridleway,
Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre.

Authorisation
I approve / do not approve the recommendation set out above.
………………………………………………………………………………………………….
ANY ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATION or COMMENT:
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………

Ian Fielding
………………………………………
IAN FIELDING
Assistant Director Transport, Waste and Countryside Services

Date 18 September 2020

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Modification Order to add BW & RB at Heyshaw to Lanes Foot Road, Dacre/14

Page 28

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Agenda Item 6
North Yorkshire County Council
Executive Members
14 June 2021
Opposed Footpath No. 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor
Diversion Order 2021
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environment and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of the report

1.1

To advise the Corporate Director - Business and Environmental Services (BES) of an
opposed Public Path Diversion Order. A location plan is attached to this report as
Plan 1. The route is shown on Plan 2. Photographs of the proposed route are at
Appendix A. Copies of the relevant landowners’ agreements to the proposal, the
letter of objection and the subsequent qualified objection withdrawal letter are at
Appendix B.

1.2

To request that the Corporate Director - BES, in consultation with the Executive
Member for Open for Business recommends that the Diversion Order be referred to
the Secretary of State (SoS) with regard to objections to the Order as described
below.

2.0

Scheme of Delegation

2.1

Within the County Council’s scheme of delegation, it is delegated to the Assistant
Director of Transport, Environment and Countryside Services, to decide whether to
abandon an opposed Diversion Order where the Authority is of the opinion that the
requirements to confirm the Order may not be met and where an Inspector appointed
by the Secretary of State may decline to confirm the Order, or to recommend to the
Director of Travel, Environment and Countryside Services that the Order be referred
to an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State.

3.0

The Application
Applicant:
Date of application:
Type of Application
Parish:
Local Member:
Applicant’s grounds for
making the application

Dr John Stephen Pickles, Leys Barn, Glusburn
Moor, Lothersdale, Keighley, BD20 8DY
29/06/2020
Diversion Order S.119 Highways Act 1980
Lothersdale
Councillor Patrick Mulligan
The definitive line is obstructed by the
applicant’s property, a former barn, which was
constructed in the early 1800s. This application
is intended to move the definitive line onto the
line which has been walked by the public for at
least 40 years.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/1

Page 29

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4.0

Relevant legal criteria

4.1

Under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980, the County Council, having consulted
any other local authority, may divert a footpath where it appears to the Authority that
in the interests of the owner of the land crossed by the footpath described in the
Order it is expedient that the line of the path should be diverted.

4.2

The County Council charges applicants for the costs incurred in the
processing/making of diversion Orders, as provided for by the Local Authorities
(Recovery of Costs for Public Path Orders) Regulations 1993 (S.I. 1993/407),
amended by regulation 3 of the Local Authorities (Charges for Overseas Assistance
and Public Path Orders) Regulations 1996 (S.I. 1996/1978).

4.3

Where an Order is opposed, the County Council cannot confirm the Order; it can only
be confirmed by the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State will confirm an Order
if he/she is satisfied that:
i)
in the interests of the landowner it is expedient to divert the footpath, and
ii)

the diversion will not be substantially less convenient to the public as a result of
the Order, and that it is expedient to confirm the Order having regard to the
effect which:
(a) the diversion would have on public enjoyment of the route as a whole;
(b) the coming into operation of the Order would have, as respects other land
served by the existing public right of way; and
(c) any new public right of way created by the Order would have, as respects
the land over which the right is created and any land held with it.

4.4

The applicant is Dr John Stephen Pickles, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor, Lothersdale,
Keighley, BD20 8DY.

4.5

With reference to Plan 2 landownership is as follows;

Land crossed by part of the existing footpath north west from Point B – the
applicant.

Land crossed by the proposed diversion route between Points C & D – joint
ownership – the applicant and Mr. R Baldwin of Leys House.

Agricultural land crossed by part of the existing path south east from Point A
and the proposed diversion route between Points A & C - Mr. N Bell, Mire
Close Farm.

4.6

There is a legal requirement to consult with any other local authority or local
authorities in whose area the land concerned is situated.

5.0

Reason for the diversion of the footpath

5.1

The applicant states that Footpath 05.22/1 is shown on the Definitive Map as going
through his property which was built circa 1820 and so, he maintains must have been
drawn incorrectly on the original Definitive Map (issued by the former West Riding
CC in 1973. The applicant advises us that for as long as he has lived at the property
(approx. 40 years) the public have used an alternative route (A-C-D as shown on
Plan 2) and this diversion is intended to divert the legal line onto the long-standing
walked route. The definitive line appears to be encroached upon by the barn, but
whether or not this has always been the case is unclear.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/2

Page 30

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

6.0

Responses to the initial consultations

6.1

An objection was received from the Ramblers in response to the initial consultation,
who wanted to see the replacement of the existing non-compliant stone stile at Point
C with a BS5709:2018 pedestrian gate. After discussion between the Definitive Map
Officer, the Ramblers Representative and the applicant, the Ramblers representative
agreed to withdraw their objection. The other affected landowners were not included
in the initial consultation because they had both provided signed statements stating
that they had no objections to the proposal, and which were submitted by the
applicant as part of the original application. The Authority made the Order on 16
March 2021 to divert the footpath.

7.0

Responses to the publication of the sealed order

7.1

The Order was duly advertised by notice on 25 March 2021.

7.2

One duly-made (but unsigned) objection was received from one of the affected
landowners in response to the publication of the notice, citing the following grounds:

General concerns that the proposal would restrict access to and the use of the
land between Points A and C as shown on Plan 2.

Concerns for the safety of livestock in the field and the general public.

Alleged misuse of the landowner’s original statement that he had no objection
to the proposal.

7.3

Prior to the submission of the objection, several telephone calls and emails were
received from the landowner’s son, Mr. C Bell, making the same objections. The
applicant alleges that when he spoke to the landowner, Mr. N Bell, Mr. N Bell had no
knowledge of the objection which had been submitted in his name.

7.4

Following discussions between the applicant and the Bells a further (signed) letter
was received on 05 May 2021, from Mr Norman Bell, which stated that he wished to
retract the objection and that he fully supported the application provided that a stile is
retained at Point C. However, the sealed Diversion Order provides for a pedestrian
gate at Point C, and the Order cannot be modified by the County Council at this late
stage. Mr Bell is not prepared to support the replacement of the existing stile with a
gate and therefore it is assumed that he continues to object to the order on this basis
alone.

8.0

Representation made by the local member

8.1

No responses were received from the Local Member to the consultations regarding
the Diversion Order.

9.0

Financial implications

9.1

Given that there is only one objection to the Order it is probable that if the opposed
Order were to be submitted to the SoS, the Order would be resolved by written
representations.

9.2

There would be a non-rechargeable cost to the Authority in preparing a submission to
the SoS, and responding to any queries raised by the SoS. These costs would be for
officer time which would be met by the respective staffing budgets.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/3

Page 31

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

10.0

Equalities implications

10.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any equality impacts arising from
the recommendations. It is the view that the proposed change from the current stile
to a BS5709:2018 pedestrian gate at Point C, as shown on Plan 2, would represent
an improvement in ease of access at this point and that therefore a rejection of the
application at this stage would remove the potential for realising that improvement.

11.0

Legal implications

11.1

The opposed Diversion Order would be determined by an Inspector appointed by the
SoS and, as stated above, determination will most likely be by way of written
representations.

11.2

The Inspector, on the basis of the legal criteria summarised in paragraph 4.3 above,
will decide whether or not to confirm the opposed Diversion Order. If he/she decides
to confirm the Order, part of the existing footpath would be extinguished and the
proposed route would be added to the Definitive Map as a public footpath.

12.0

Climate change implications

12.1

The proposal is merely to divert a short section of existing public footpath on to an
alternative alignment very close by. The confirmation of this order would have no
positive or negative impact on climate change.

13.0

Current decisions to be made

13.1

The decisions to be made at this stage is firstly whether the Order is to be
abandoned, or is to be forwarded to the SoS for resolution.

13.2

Secondly, if it is decided that the matter is to be forwarded to the SoS then a further
decision will needs to be made, namely which stance the authority would take within
its submission to the SoS towards the confirmation of the Order; that is the Authority
needs to decide if it:

supports confirmation of the Order,
or

considers the circumstances are so finely balanced, or are particularly unclear
and wishes to take a neutral stance.

14.0

Conclusions

14.1

After due consideration of the nature of the objections, and bearing in mind that the
proposed pedestrian gate would meet the requirements of BS5709:2018, both in
terms of its design and by being the least obstructive option which meets the land
management needs, officers believe that despite the objection from one of the
affected landowners on one particular aspect, if the matter were to be forwarded to
the SoS, a Planning Inspector, would be likely to find that the proposed diversion
adequately meets the relevant legal criteria outlined in paragraph 4 above on the
following grounds, and may therefore confirm the Order:i)
The public have been using the proposed route for many years as a suitable
alternative to the definitive line. The proposed route is not substantially less
convenient than the definitive route, indeed there is a benefit to the public
avoiding the close proximity to the building.
NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/4

Page 32

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

ii)

14.2

The current stile at Point C does not meet the requirements of BS5709:2018.
To satisfy the consideration of ease of use it would be desirable for a stockproof pedestrian gate which complies with BS5709:2018 to be provided in
place of the existing stile.

In view of the objection to the proposed removal of the stile at Point C, the Inspector
may be minded to confirm the Order, but to modify it to specify the provision of a new
stile which meets the dimensional requirements of BS5709:2018, rather than require
the replacement of the stile with a pedestrian gate. In this event the Authority would
accept that decision.

15.0

Recommendation

15.1

It is recommended that the opposed Diversion Order be referred to the Secretary
of State and that the Corporate Director – BES, in consultation with the Executive
Member for Open to Business authorises the authority to support the confirmation
of the Order within its submission to the SoS.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director - Travel, Environment and Countryside Services

Author of report: Steve Metcalfe

Background papers: File Ref CRA/2020/03/DO

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/5

Page 33

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Plan 1: Location Plan

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/6

Page 34

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Plan 2: Diversion Order Plan

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/7

Page 35

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A

Photo 1 - Definitive route from cattle grid (Point B) to right of barn. Proposed route from gap
(Point D) to left of barn.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/8

Page 36

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A

Photo 2 – Proposed Route: Approach from Leys Barn to Point C (behind beech hedge).

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/9

Page 37

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A

Photo 3 – Existing Stile (Point C) – to be replaced by pedestrian gate in opposed Order.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/10

Page 38

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A

Photo 4 – Proposed Route Point C to Point A. Definitive route runs along field edge in centre
right of photo.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/11

Page 39

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A

Photo 5 – Proposed Route Point A to Point C. Definitive route runs along field edge to left of
photo.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/12

Page 40

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

OBJECTION ETC.
Document 1: Letter of Support from owner of Leys House.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/13

Page 41

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

Document 2: Letter of Support & Plan from N. Bell – owner of field (Points A–C).

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/14

Page 42

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/15

Page 43

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

Document 3: Letter of Objection

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/16

Page 44

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

Document 4: Letter Withdrawing Objection (on condition that a stile remains at Point C).

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/17

Page 45

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

North Yorkshire County Council
Executive Members
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environment and Countryside Services
14 June 2021
Opposed Footpath No. 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor
Diversion Order 2021

AUTHORISATION

I approve / do not approve the recommendation set out in the report.

ANY ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATION or COMMENT:
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………

Karl Battersby
Corporate Director - BES
Signed: ……………………………….…Date: ………………….………

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Footpath No 05.22/1, Leys Barn, Glusburn Moor Diversion Order 2021/18

Page 46

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Agenda Item 7
North Yorkshire County Council
Executive Members
14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add Restricted Byways to the Definitive Map at
Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth and Ilton-Cum-Pott
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environment and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of the report

1.1

To advise the Corporate Director - Business and Environmental Services (BES) and
Executive Member for Open to Business of an opposed Definitive Map Modification
Order (DMMO).

1.2

To request the Corporate Director, in consultation with the Executive Member for
Open to Business, to authorise that North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC), in its
submission of the opposed Order to the SoS will support confirmation of the Order.

2.0

Background

2.1

The application for the DMMO was submitted to the County Council in October 2005
by the Trail Riders Fellowship for an existing bridleway and part footpath to be
recorded as a byway open to all traffic (BOAT). Changes in legislation in 2006 meant
that this route could not, in officers’ view, be recorded as a BOAT but the application
was still investigated to establish whether the route could be recorded as a restricted
byway.

2.2

The application was supported by
25 Evidence of Use Forms
1 Statutory Declaration
Historical Evidence:

1854 Fountains Earth Moor Inclosure

1834 Greenwood’s map of Yorkshire

1775 Thos. Jeffreys Map of Yorkshire

1974 W & AK Johnstons “Readyfold Coloured Touring Map” 3 miles to 1 inch

1947 Geographia Road Map 3 miles to 1 inch

1846 1st edition 1” OS map

1856 1st Edition 6” OS map

1892 2nd Edition 6” OS map

2.3

Attached to this report as Appendix A is a copy of the report submitted to the
Assistant Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services dated 18 August
2020.

2.4

The Assistant Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services approved the
making of a DMMO which was subsequently advertised, attracting two objections
which remain outstanding. The County Council cannot confirm a DMMO where there
are outstanding objections; the Order must be forwarded to the Secretary of State for
resolution.

Page 47

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.0

Responses to the publication of the sealed order

3.1

The Order was made on 20 November 2020 and following the advertisement of the
Order 2 objections were received. Both objections were regarding technicalities
within the Order, not about the principle of whether the evidence supports the status
of the route being recorded as a restricted byway.

3.2

The first objection relates to a section of the route between Points A – X on Appendix
A Plan 3 attached to this report. This section has been incorrectly included in the
Order. It is currently maintainable highway and the effect of the Order as it stands
would be to downgrade that section and thus extinguish motor vehicular rights which
was not the intention of the application.

3.3

This section was incorrectly included when the application route was recorded in
2005 and went un-noticed until the consultation on the Order was carried out. When
forwarded to PINS the submission will include an explanation on this point, and would
request that if the Order is to be confirmed, a modification be made to the Order by
the Inspector to exclude this section.

3.4

The second objection also relates to sections A - B on Appendix A Plan 2, referring to
the widths of the route as described within the Order, and to the recording of the field
gates on the route, within the Order. However, the widths described were derived
from the user evidence and the normal width of Restricted Byways, and the field
gates are already recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement.

3.5

The key issue here is what width of route the public have acquired the right to use, at
the time that right was acquired, and whether or not the gates were in existence
when the rights were acquired.

3.6

These matters will be fully considered by the Inspector via the Statements of Case
which will be submitted by the various parties but which do not have any material
effect on the stance to be taken by the Authority.

4.0

Representation made by the local member

4.1

No formal representations were received from the local councillor in response to the
consultations regarding the Modification Order.

5.0

Financial implications

5.1

As the relevant evidence submitted consists mostly of documentary evidence, as the
user evidence relates to motorcycle use of the route which is minimally relevant to
the proposal to add a restricted byway to the Definitive Map, it is probable that the
Order would be resolved by written representations.

5.2

There would be an unavoidable cost to the Authority in preparing a submission to the
SoS, and responding to any queries raised by the SoS. These costs would be officer
time which would be met by the respective staffing budgets.

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

The investigation and resolution of Definitive Map Modification Order applications is a
statutory process which has no regard as to whether the outcome would benefit or
prejudice owners, occupiers or members of the general public, and as such it is
considered that equality and diversity issues are not relevant to the outcome of the

Page 48

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

process. In any event, it is the view that the recommendations do not have an
adverse impact on any of the protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act
2010.
7.0

Legal Implications

7.1

The opposed Modification Order will be determined by an Inspector appointed by the
SoS, and, as stated above, determination will most likely be by way of written
representations.

7.2

The Inspector, on the basis of the evidence and the legal criteria will decide whether
or not to confirm the opposed Modification Order. If he/she decides to confirm the
Order, the routes will be amended on the Definitive Map and statement in
accordance with the details within the Order.

8.0

Climate Change Implications

8.1

The proposal is to alter the public status of routes already recorded as public routes
within the County Council’s records. The confirmation of this order would have no
positive or negative impact on climate change.

9.0

Current Decision to be made

9.1

The current decision to be made is which stance the County Council is to take within
its submission of this opposed DMMO to the SoS. In submitting an opposed Order to
the SoS the County Council needs to express whether, on the basis of the available
evidence, it;

supports confirmation of the Order,

believes the Order should not be confirmed, or

considers the evidence is either so finely balanced, or is particularly unclear
and wishes to take a neutral stance.

10.0

Conclusions

10.1

The objections raised are seeking clarification within the Order in the expectation that
it will be confirmed. The objections do not attempt to undermine the evidence that
the existing bridleway should be upgraded in its status to that of restricted byway.
Therefore no evidence has been put forward to suggest that the Order should not be
confirmed.

10.2

No evidence has been submitted to suggest that the route should not be recorded as
a restricted byway.

10.3

The evidence is sufficient to support, on the balance of probabilities, that the route is
‘more likely than not’ to carry higher rights than that of the existing bridleway rights. It
is not disputed that motor vehicular rights have been extinguished by NERCA 2006.

10.4

Therefore there is no reason why the Authority should oppose the confirmation of the
Order, nor take a neutral stance to the confirmation of the Order.

Page 49

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

11.0

Recommendation

11.1

That the Corporate Director – BES, in consultation with the Executive Member for
Open to Business authorises the Authority to support confirmation of the Order in its
submission to the SoS, requesting the modifications to be made to correct the
conflicts inadvertently made within the Order as described above.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director Travel, Environment and Countryside Services

Author of report: Ron Allan

Background papers: HAR/2005/05/DMMO Stonebeck Up (Scar House-Pott Moor High Rd)

Page 50

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

North Yorkshire County Council
Executive Members
14 June 2021

Opposed Modification Order to add Restricted Byways to the Definitive Map at
Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton–Cum-Pott

AUTHORISATION
I approve / do not approve the recommendation set out above
………………………………………………………………………………………………….
ANY ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATION or COMMENT:
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………

Karl Battersby
Corporate Director - BES
Signed: ……………………………….…Date: ………………….………

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/5

Page 51

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
North Yorkshire County Council
Report to the Assistant Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services
18 August 2020
Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to upgrade Bridleways no.s;
15.126/2/4 Stonebeck Up & 15.44/1/5 Fountains Earth, and Footpaths no.s 15.57/12/1
Healey & 15.63/3/1 Ilton cum Pot to Restricted Byways
1.0

Purpose of report

1.1

To advise the Assistant Director of an application for a Definitive Map Modification
Order to upgrade Bridleways no.s; 15.126/2/4 Stonebeck Up & 15.44/1/5 Fountains
Earth, and Footpaths no.s 15.57/12/1 Healey & 15.63/3/1 Ilton cum Pot to BOAT. A
location plan is attached to this report as Plan 1. The route is shown in detail as A E on Plan 2.

1.2

To request the Assistant Director to authorise the making of a Definitive Map
Modification Order to upgrade Bridleways no.s; 15.126/2/4 Stonebeck Up &
15.44/1/5 Fountains Earth, and Footpaths no.s 15.57/12/1 Healey & 15.63/3/1 Ilton
cum Pot to Restricted Byways along the application route, on the basis of evidence
of existing higher rights than Bridleway discovered during investigation into the
application.

2.0

Scheme of delegation

2.1

Within the County Council’s scheme of delegation, it is delegated to the Assistant
Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services to exercise the functions of the
Council under Part III of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 in relation to the
power to make and advertise Definitive Map Modification Orders, including where an
objection has been received from any person or body.

2.2

For routes which are already recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement, but
where the application is to amend the status of the route, the evidence required must
meet the higher “balance of probabilities” test.

3.0

The application
Applicant:
Date of application:
Type of Application
Parish:
Local Member:
Application
supported by:
List of
documentary
evidence:

Mr B Thompson, Trail Riders Fellowship.
3/10/2005
Definitive Map Modification Order
Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, Healey & Ilton cum Pot
Cllr Margaret Atkinson
Cllr Stanley Lumley
25 Evidence of Use Forms
1 Statutory Declaration
Historical Evidence

Fountains Earth Moor Inclosure 1854

Greenwood’s map of Yorkshire1834

Thos. Jeffreys Map of Yorkshire 1775

W & AK Johnstons “Readyfold Coloured Touring Map” 3
miles to 1 inch 1947

Geographia Road Map 3 miles to 1 inch 1947

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/6

Page 52

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A



Applicant’s
grounds for making
the application

1st edition 1” OS map 1846
1st Edition 6” OS map 1856
2nd Edition 6” OS map 1892

Challenge to use in 1997 when a Statement made under S31 of
the Highways Act was submitted to the County Council.

4.0

Relevant legal criteria

4.1

In deciding whether to make a Modification Order, the County Council must be
satisfied that, in accordance with Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981,
the evidence discovered by the County Council, when taken into consideration with all
other relevant evidence, is sufficient to show that on the “balance of probabilities” a
public right of way subsists along the claimed route.

4.2

Although the original application was for a BOAT, significant changes have since
been made to relevant legislation, which affect this application.

4.3

The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERCA 2006),
Parliament legislated to extinguish certain unrecorded rights of way for mechanically
propelled vehicles (motor vehicles) by a blanket provision, with a commencement
date for the Act of 2 May 2006, subject to certain exceptions referred to below but
acknowledged that there were inevitably applications for BOATs waiting to be
investigated by highway authorities. Therefore, Section 67(3) allowed that any motor
vehicular rights had not been extinguished by the blanket provision if:
“(a)

before the relevant date, an application was made under section 53(5) of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an order making modifications to the
definitive map and statement so as to show the way as a byway open to all
traffic”.

4.4

The “relevant date” given within the Act was 20 January 2005. This, in effect,
provided a backdated cut-off date for existing applications for BOATs.

4.5

This application was submitted after the relevant date of 20 January 2005, therefore,
once investigated, if vehicular rights were proved to exist the route could only be
recorded as a restricted byway (which excludes motor vehicle rights), unless it could
be demonstrated that one of the exceptions as set out under Section 67(2) of the
NERCA 2006 was applicable.

4.6

The only exception that was considered as potentially relevant to the application
route is Section 67(2)(a). This provides that any motor vehicular right had not been
extinguished by the Act if:
“(a)

4.7

it is over a way whose main lawful use by the public during the period of 5
years ending with commencement was use for mechanically propelled
vehicles”.

“Commencement” is the date at which the Act became effective, that is, 2 May 2006.

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/7

Page 53

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
4.8

After consideration of the evidence provided to the County Council it was considered
that the application did not present evidence that that public use of the application
route during the relevant period was predominantly by motor vehicle.

4.9

Officers concluded therefore, that the highest rights that could exist on the application
route were those of restricted byway.

5.0

User evidence and NERCA 2006

5.1

25 qualifying evidence of use forms were submitted detailing motor vehicle use of the
route from 1968 to 1997 of which 14 exceeded the required 20-year user period.

5.2

None of the user evidence forms record any challenge to the use.

5.3

Section 67 of the Natural England and Rural Communities Act 2005 deals with the
ending of certain existing unrecorded public rights of way:
1)
An existing public right of way for mechanically propelled vehicles is
extinguished if it is over a way which, immediately before commencement—
(a) was not shown in a definitive map and statement, or
b)
was shown in a definitive map and statement only as a footpath,
bridleway or restricted byway.

5.4

The commencement date is the 20th January 2005, therefore any mechanically
propelled vehicular rights are extinguished unless any of the exemptions contained in
subsection 2 and 3 of the Act apply.
The exemptions are (a) it is over a way whose main lawful use by the public during the period of 5
years ending with commencement was use for mechanically propelled vehicles,
(b) immediately before commencement it was not shown in a definitive map and
statement but was shown in a list required to be kept under section 36(6) of the
Highways Act 1980 (c. 66) (list of highways maintainable at public expense),
(c) it was created (by an enactment or instrument or otherwise) on terms that
expressly provide for it to be a right of way for mechanically propelled vehicles,
(d) it was created by the construction, in exercise of powers conferred by virtue of
any enactment, of a road intended to be used by such vehicles, or
(e) it was created by virtue of use by such vehicles during a period ending before
1st December 1930.
(3)

Subsection (1) does not apply to an existing public right of way over a way if:
(a) before the relevant date, an application was made under section 53(5) of
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (c. 69) for an order making
modifications to the definitive map and statement so as to show the way
as a byway open to all traffic,
(b) before commencement, the surveying authority has made a
determination under paragraph 3 of Schedule 14 to the 1981 Act in
respect of such an application, or

5.5

The evidence of use forms indicate that vehicular rights are likely to subsist but the
application was submitted on the 30th of September 2005 which is after the cut-off
date of 20th January 2005 laid down in the NERCA 2006.

5.6

A claim for motor vehicle rights could only be successful if one of the exemptions
contained within S 67 of NERCA 2006 was found to apply and in this case none do
so, therefore, in accordance with s 67 the highest status that can be achieved is
Restricted Byway.
NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/8

Page 54

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
6.0

Documentary Evidence

6.1

The route or sections of it appear in the following historical documents:

The 1854 Fountains Earth Inclosure Award covers the eastern end of the route
and the route is clearly laid out and annotated with “to Masham” which would
indicate a through route rather than a route solely used to access land.
Inclosure awards were made under specific legal authority and are conclusive
proof of the status of a highway. Although the Award does not cover the whole
route it is unlikely that a public highway would be laid out which did not connect
to another highway suggesting that it was a through route.

Greenwood’s map of Yorkshire 1834, Thos. Jeffreys Map of Yorkshire 1775, W
& AK Johnstons “Ready-fold Coloured Touring Map” 3 miles to 1 inch 1947 and
the Geographia Road Map 3 miles to 1 inch 1947 are all commercially available
maps which show the claimed route. It is generally considered that such
commercial maps would only show those routes which were available for the
public to use.

The 1st edition 1” OS map 1846 – 1897, the 1st Edition 6” OS map 1856 and the
2nd Edition 6” OS map 1892 all show the route but do not assign any status to it.

6.2

Taken together the user and documentary evidence provide good evidence of the
route having highway reputation or status.

7.0

Objections to the application

7.1

The owner of the section between points B and C on the plan states that a section 31
deposit was made in 1997 in respect of the Middlesmoor Estate (valid until
2013). Alleged usage evidence in respect of section B to C covering 1997 to 2013
should therefore be disregarded.

7.2

They also state that the historical evidence in the form of historical maps has not
been provided and as such it has not been possible to assess its validity.

7.3

The objector states that of the 25 evidence of use forms provided as evidence, only
17 cover the full required 20-year time period. Only 2 refer to access on foot and
only 7 to access by bicycle. The objector states that those forms which refer to use
by motor vehicle should be excluded because such use would not be permitted if the
application was successful. The objector also states that the alleged frequency of
use, being only once per year for 10 of the 25 forms and under 10 times per year for
12 of the 25 forms, was very infrequent.

7.4

The objector also states that it is unclear if the evidence relates to the whole of the
route and therefore should not be taken to apply to the whole route.

7.5

Evidence from three people countering that stated in the evidence of use forms is set
out belowo
The owner of Middlesmoor Estate since 1991 and before that the son of the
owner, the estate having been by the family for 101 years states that he has
not seen any evidence of the use of the route by bicycles, horses or motorised
vehicles. Walking on the route has been accepted under the CRoW Act 2000
since that Act came into force.
o
The Head Moorland Gamekeeper of Swinton Estate since 2006 states that he
has challenged anyone who he has seen on the route in so far as it is on
Swinton Estate.

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/9

Page 55

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
o

The Moorland Gamekeeper of Swinton Estate since 2004 states that he has
challenged anyone who he has seen on the route in so far as it is on Swinton
Estate.

7.6

The objector has stated that they believe that the increased usage which would
inevitably result from the change in the designation of the route would bring with it an
increased risk of wildfire, trespass onto sensitive moorland wildlife habitats (which are
designated as an SSSI) and increased maintenance costs for the landowners.

8.0

Conclusions regarding the evidence and objections to the application

8.1

The user evidence indicates use by motor vehicles during a qualifying period of 1977
to 1997. Whilst this use no longer contributes to the route being able to be recorded
as a BOAT due to the effect of the NERCA 2006, as described in section 5 above,
the NERCA 2006 does not prevent use of the route by motor vehicles being
contributory evidence towards to the route being recorded as a restricted byway.

8.2

The route is shown in existence through most of its length on historic OS maps.
Whilst this shows the route existed on the ground, it does not in itself indicate public
highway status.

8.3

The objection raised on the basis of the section 31 deposit is not valid because it
does not apply to the period of claimed use.

8.4

Whilst the objector states that he has not seen evidence of any use of the route by
horses, bicycles or motor vehicles, this is not surprising as the route is fairly remote,
and does not pass near to agricultural or residential properties, and the surface of the
route is compact and would sustain vehicular use. The objector’s comment relating
to the CROW Act 200 is incorrect as the route has been recorded in part as a public
footpath, and part as a public bridleway, on the original Definitive Maps produced by
the former North Riding and West Riding County Councils in 1961 and 1972
respectively, so their public status preceded the CROW Act 2000.

8.5

The challenges to users listed in para 7.5 since 2006 and 2004 fall outside the period
for claimed user and are therefore not relevant.

8.6

No evidence has been provided by the landowners to indicate that any steps were
taken to prevent vehicular access, or to bring to the attention of the public that
vehicular access along the route was not permitted.

9.0

Representation made by the local member

9.1

None

10.0

Financial implications

10.1

In the event that an Order were to be made and was then opposed, there may be
financial implications for the authority in covering any cost associated with any
subsequent public inquiry. Such costs cannot be avoided where the Planning
Inspectorate decides that a public inquiry should be held to resolve an application. If
an Inquiry were to be held the Authority may need to appoint external advocacy.

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/10

Page 56

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
11.0

Equalities implications

11.1

There is a statutory requirement to investigate applications for Definitive Map
Modification Orders, regardless as to whether the outcome would benefit or prejudice
owners, occupiers or members of the general public, and as such it is considered that
equality and diversity issues are not relevant to the outcome of the process. In any
event it is considered that the outcome would have no impact on the protected
characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

12.0

Recommendation

12.1

It is therefore recommended that: the Assistant Director, Transport, Waste and
Countryside Services, authorises the making of a Definitive Map Modification
Order for the route shown as A – E on Plan 2 of this report to be recorded on the
Definitive Map as a Restricted Byway.

Author of Report: Ron Allan

Background Documents:
N:\bes-data\WACS\PRoW\DMT\Applications\02 DMMO\03 Harrogate\HAR-2005-05-DMMO
Stonebeck Up (Scar House-Pott Moor High Rd)

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/11

Page 57

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
Plan 1

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/12

Page 58

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
Plan 2

Page 59
NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A

NYCC – 14 June 2021
Opposed Modification Order to add RB at Stonebeck Up, Fountains Earth, & Ilton-Cum-Pott/14

Page 60

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Agenda Item 8
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
14 June 2021
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England
Report of Assistant Director – Transport, Environment and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To inform the Corporate Director - Business and Environmental Services (BES) and BES
Executive Members of the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA)
consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England covering
elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy.

1.2

To seek approval for the attached responses contained in Appendix 1 to the above
consultation on behalf of the County Council to be sent to DEFRA.

2.0

Executive Summary

2.1

In December 2018, the government published the Resources and Waste Strategy
pledging to leave the environment in a better condition for the next generation. The
Strategy is supported by a series of consultations to engage with stakeholders and gather
evidence.

2.2

The reforms proposed by Government are wide ranging and ambitious, both in nature and
timescale. The proposed key responses to this consultation released are as follows:

The proposed core set of dry recyclable materials required to be collected for
recycling are broadly welcomed, providing that the Resources and Waste Strategy
provides sufficient stimulus for the development of end markets and funding is
available to amend or construct new material recycling facilities.

Council’s need support to demonstrate when it may not be technically or
economically practicable to collect recyclable household waste in recyclable waste
streams separately, or circumstances in which separate collection may not have
significant environmental benefit,

Transitional arrangements for local authorities with long term disposal contracts
affected by mandated separate collections of food waste is welcomed, however at
this stage it is not clear whether councils will receive appropriate support and
funding that includes consequential costs.

The proposal to provide free garden waste collections removes the incentive to
compost at home, is of no benefit to residents without a garden and is not
supported.

The principle of ‘new burden’ funding is positive, however until it is explicitly laid out
what costs are covered local authorities will be hesitant in taking these proposals
forward which puts pressure on achieving very ambitious timescales.

Page 61

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.0

Key Background Information

3.1

The Resources and Waste Strategy published in December 2018 was supported by an
initial set of consultations covering Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging
(EPR), Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS), and Consistency in Household and
Business Recycling Collections (CHBRCs). The Corporate Director of Business and
Environmental Services and Executive members agreed to respond to DEFRA as set out
in a report dated 10 May 2019. A second report considered by the Corporate Director of
Business and Environmental Services and Executive members 21 May 2021 agreed to
respond to DEFRA consultations on EPR, DRS and the Waste Prevention Programme for
England. This third report considers the consultation on CHBRCs which has a submission
deadline of 04 July 2021.

3.2

Significant overlap exist with the DRS, EPR and CHBRCs consultations. Draft responses
to this consultation’s questions are included as Appendix 1 and this report highlights some
of the key issues and proposed approach to responses.

4.0

Summary of the consultation

4.1

This is the second consultation concerned with having consistent recycling collections to
improve the quantity and quality of municipal waste recycled in England and achieve a
national recycling rate of 65% by 2035. It directly impacts on local authority waste
services and is looking at proposals for all waste collection authorities to:

collect the same core set of dry recyclable materials from households

have separate weekly food waste collections from households

have separate minimum fortnightly collection of garden waste (possibly free)

4.2

Views are sought on the materials to be included in each of the dry recyclable waste
streams; timelines for when the requirements must be implemented by and possible
exemptions to collect a particular recyclable waste stream separately from other
recyclable waste streams.

4.3

The proposed core set of materials required to be collected for recycling are:

glass bottles and containers – including drinks bottles, condiment bottles, jars.

paper and card – including newspaper, cardboard packaging, writing paper

metal packaging - steel and aluminium tins and cans

plastic bottles – including clear drinks containers, HDPE milk containers, detergent,
shampoo and cleaning product containers

plastic pots, tubs and trays

4.4

In addition to the above items, DEFRA propose that the recyclable waste streams will also
include the following items:

foil, foil trays and metal aerosols cans, including packaging items

food and drink cartons

plastic film and flexible packaging

4.5

DEFRA expect all local authorities to be able to collect the core materials from October
2023 to align with the date that they anticipate EPR for packaging will commence. The
exception is for plastic films, where they have proposed this should be phased in with a
defined ‘end date’ of the financial year 2026/27.

Page 62

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4.6

DEFRA intend to introduce the requirement for separate food collections in 2023/24 and
want all local authorities to have collections in place by 2024/25 at the latest.

4.7

For local authorities with long term residual waste disposal contracts that may be affected
by introducing a separate food waste collection (e.g. some Energy from Waste or
Mechanical Biological Treatment contracts), DEFRA propose that these local authorities
should have a separate food waste collection service in place as quickly as contracts
allow. They anticipate setting a date between 2024/25 and 2030/31, subject to further
evidence on the associated costs and benefits.

4.8

An updated proposal on garden waste includes for a limited free collection service, with
local authorities retaining the provision to charge beyond this (e.g. increased collection
frequency or increased capacity). DEFRA are also seeking views on alternatives to a
having to provide a free minimum collection service. These are:

Produce updated guidance on reasonable charges

Clear communications to non-participating households

Increasing home composting.

4.9

Statutory guidance and secondary legislation that will enact consistent collections will be
published. The guidance proposed includes:

Conditions where an exception to the condition that recyclable waste in each
recyclable waste stream must be collected separately may apply and where, as a
consequence, two or more recyclable waste streams may be collected together.

Compliance and enforcement.

Minimum service standards for the separate collection of dry recyclable materials
from households and non-domestic premises and premises producing commercial
or industrial waste.

Minimum service standards for the collection of residual waste from households.

Minimum service standards for the separate collection of food and garden waste
from households.

4.10

All businesses and non-domestic premises need to arrange for the collection of glass,
metal, plastic, paper and card and food waste for recycling or composting. The
consultation discusses the materials to be included in each of the recyclable waste
streams, possible timelines for when the requirements must be introduced by and
possible exemptions from the requirement to collect recyclable waste streams separately.

4.11

There are proposals on options to reduce the costs that businesses, particularly small and
micro-firms, face to recycle. This includes exemptions for micro-firms, phasing micro-firms
into the requirement later than larger businesses and other cost reduction options, such
as waste franchising and collaborative procurement.

4.12

In addition to the above areas DEFRA are also seeking views on the future of recycling
credits which will not be paid for packaging and drinks containers funded through EPR
and DRS payments to local authorities.

4.13

In the previous 2019 consultation and in DEFRA’s Resources and Waste Strategy,
Government committed to fund the net additional cost to local authorities of the new
statutory duties placed on them. This would be done in line with Government guidance on
new burdens. New burdens are defined as any change in a central Government policy or
initiative that imposes a net cost on local government and could lead to an increase in
council tax.

Page 63

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

5.0

Key Implications for North Yorkshire

5.1

In general the proposal to collect a core set of materials makes sense and is little changed
from the 2019 consultation. Most authorities in North Yorkshire already collect the majority
of the proposed core set of materials. New arrangements will be required in areas of
North Yorkshire to collect aluminium foil, aluminium food trays, aluminium tubes, or food
and drink cartons by 2023, and there are currently no collections of plastic films required
by 2026/27.

5.2

Whilst the EPR and DRS should fund these materials there are concerns over the lack of
markets for the increased tonnage nationally. If markets fail to appear or if supply exceeds
demand due to efficient and effective collection systems, it is unclear whether EPR Full
Net Cost funding or New Burdens funding cover the full cost of these materials collected
for recycling being sent for disposal due to lack of markets. The CHBRCs consultation
does not specify whether the core set of materials will be collected at household waste
recycling centres (HWRC).

5.3

The Environment Bill subject to gaining Royal Assent mandates the separate weekly
collection of food waste. Separate collection and treatment of food waste will have a
significant impact upon the compositional make up of our residual waste stream, and will
impact the operating practices and revenue generation of our long term waste contractor
for Allerton Waste Recovery Park (AWRP).

5.4

If mandated we advocate against a ‘one size fits all’ approach to food waste until DEFRA
has completed “exploring the transitional barriers including costs (arising from, for
example, amending or breaking existing contracts where necessary) with those local
authorities” and it is clear councils will receive appropriate support and funding, that
includes consequential costs.

5.5

The introduction of free garden waste collections will significantly increase collection costs
and discourage home composting, which is the preferred method of dealing with waste
within the waste hierarchy. The lost income stream for six out of seven waste collection
authorities in North Yorkshire who charge, would potentially be replaced through new
burden funding. However the environmental impact of a garden waste collection service to
every household is not justified when the most environmentally sustainable solution is to
compost at home.

5.6

A garden waste collection service to every household would have a significant impact on
the County Council financially as it would increase the amount of recycling
credits/incentive payable and processing costs through our contractors. It is proposed
that NYCC does not support proposals to remove the ability of councils to charge for the
collection of garden waste. Evidence from within North Yorkshire suggests that free
collections are not required in order to achieve high recycling performance, and that
charging does not reduce tonnages collected to the same levels as Government have
indicated is likely within the previous consultation document. Free garden waste
collections will increase the total amount of waste arising within North Yorkshire as more
waste is captured, and will only be a benefit to those residents who have a garden. The
“New Burdens” funding should allow Local Authorities to promote and manage home
composting as a priority before consideration of free garden waste collections.

5.7

We welcome the consideration of exemptions for the following waste streams to be
collected together from households and non-household municipal premises:

Page 64

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

•
•

plastic and metal
glass and metal.

5.8

We further suggest that an exemption for a combination of plastic, metal and glass is
considered. Efficient and effective systems in predominantly rural areas is more readily
achieved when waste streams are co-collected, and the separate collection of fibres
ensures high quality recyclate is recovered.

5.9

Like most respondents to the first consultation we support the need for Government to
provide flexible guidance for local authorities to take account of varying local
circumstances. Council’s need support to adopt a consistent approach to demonstrating
when it may not be technically or economically practicable to collect recyclable household
waste in recyclable waste streams separately, or circumstances in which separate
collection may not have significant environmental benefit. We believe this approach
should be applied across all of the requirements for collection including garden, food and
residual waste to allow local decision making within an agreed national framework.

5.10

Within the 2019 consultation North Yorkshire County Council did not support the
introduction of a minimum fortnightly refuse collection frequency, we believe this is
something that councils should be able to determine themselves. Restricting refuse
capacity is a strong driver for increased recycling and once the recycling, garden and food
waste is removed, there is very little left to be disposed of in the refuse bin which allows
for lower frequency collections. The focus should be on outcomes, leaving local councils
free to decide when to collect materials on the basis of what works for them based on
technical, economic and environmental considerations. These decisions should be made
locally taking into account the local area, housing types and demographics. We are
concerned that whilst briefly discussed within “Statutory guidance proposed content 4:
Minimum service standards for the collection of residual waste from households” there is
no opportunity for comment on this within this consultation.

5.11

There are potential opportunities to be gained from the proposals to include businesses
that produce household-like waste. There are many businesses in North Yorkshire who
may be able to benefit from these proposals, increasing their recycling rates and reducing
refuse disposal costs. Waste collectors should be required to collect the core set of dry
materials from all non-household premises at the same point in time as local authorities
are commencing collection of these materials from household sources, and funding from
producers under the EPR scheme is available where appropriate.

5.12

On page 12 of the consultation under the New Burdens heading Government says “As
part of the new duties imposed on local authorities in the Environment Bill, central
Government will fund net additional capital costs (for example containers, vehicles), and
transitional costs such as communications and re-routing vehicles, to implement the new
consistent collection measures.” There is no mention of ongoing operational costs here,
yet on page 31 in discussing Food Waste “Government will ensure that local authorities
are resourced to meet any new burdens arising from this policy, including up front
transition costs and ongoing operational costs”. Until explicitly laid out uncertainty will
remain with what costs are covered and therefore local authorities will be hesitant in
taking these proposals forward.

Page 65

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

5.13

As discussed in the report to the Corporate Director - Business and Environmental
Services and Executive Members 21 May 2021 on DEFRA consultations on EPR, DRS
and the Waste Prevention Programme for England, the timescales for implementation are
very ambitious. If the EPR is not fully functioning it will have a knock on effect and will
influence funding for some of the dry material required to be collected by local authorities
within this consultation. The proposals within this Consistency in Household and Business
Recycling in England consultation require significant resources from local authorities
concerning planning future services, re-negotiation of contracts, preparing and tendering
new contracts, suppliers of services acquiring new /additional infrastructure, vehicles,
containers, acquirement of planning permission for required facilities, all against a fairly
limited current infrastructure availability. Further limitation on the two years and four
months currently available for local authorities and suppliers etc. due to proposals not
being fully formed by DEFRA will exacerbate the pressures already on those involved
further.

6.0

Financial Implications

6.1

There may be significant positive and negative financial implications from any legislation
resulting from these consultation proposals. As yet there is insufficient clarity to determine
the actual effects of the proposals being consulted on. Most policies are not proposed to
be implemented until late 2023, so whilst there is no immediate impact on budgets,
financial planning must start to take into account the likely impacts and once known these
will be built into the Medium Term Financial Plan of the Authority at the appropriate time.
There is also the potential for the proposals to have a financial impact on the current long
term waste contract.

7.0

Legal Implications

7.1

There is the potential for significant changes to existing legislation and guidance and the
proposals have potential for impacts on our current long term waste contact.

8.0

Equalities Implications

8.1

None, as these proposals are consultation exercises on key principles, there is insufficient
information on which to base an Equalities Impact Assessment.

Page 66

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

9.0

Climate change Implications

9.1

The proposals are included within a national consultation regarding key principles which if
implemented will have significant carbon impacts gained through increases in the levels of
recycling nationally. DEFRA estimate the increases will generate between £3,627M to
£4,661M GHGs emissions savings (traded and non-traded) for the period 2023-2035,
dependent upon the options taken forward. Once legislative and operational requirements
are clearer, the climate change implications for North Yorkshire can be assessed.

10.0

Conclusion

10.1

The consultation proposals are broadly welcomed but will require some refinement and
clarity regarding the scope and funding. The proposals will impact on the amount and type
of waste collected and disposed, and how waste will actually be collected and disposed.

11.0

Recommendations

11.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director - Business and Environmental Services
(BES) and BES Executive Members consider the issues raised by the consultation on
Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England

11.2

It is recommended that the Corporate Director - BES in consultation with BES Executive
Members approve the attached responses to the above consultations on behalf of the
County Council to be sent to DEFRA.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director – Transport, Environment and Countryside Services

Authors of Report:
Peter Jeffreys, Head of Waste
Andy Holmes & Jenny Lowes, Service Improvement Officers

Background papers relied upon in the preparation of this report:Business and Environmental Services, Executive Members, 10 May 2019, DEFRA/HM Treasury
Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy, Report of Assistant Director Transport Waste and Countryside Services
https://edemocracy.northyorks.gov.uk/Data/Business%20and%20Environmental%20Services%2
0Corporate%20Director%20and%20Executive%20Members%20Meeting/20190510/Agenda/DEF
RAHM%20Treasury%20Consultations%20on%20elements%20of%20the%20Resources%20and%2
0Wa.pdf

Page 67

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/7

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Business and Environmental Services, Executive Members, 21 May 2021, DEFRA Consultations
on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy, Report of Assistant Director – Travel
Environmental and Countryside Services
https://edemocracy.northyorks.gov.uk/documents/s5795/DEFRA%20Consultation%20on%20the
%20Resources%20and%20Waste%20Strategy.pdf

Page 68

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Consistent Collections Consultation
Introduction (page 16)
Q1
Your Name
Peter Jeffreys
Q2

Your email address
peter.jeffreys@northyorks.gov.uk

Q3

Which best describes you?
☒ Local government

Q4

If you are responding on behalf of an organisation what is its name?
North Yorkshire County Council

Q5

Would you like your response to be confidential?
No

Proposals on separate collection of dry recyclable waste from households
Proposal 1 - Collection of dry recyclable materials
Q6
Do you agree or disagree that local authorities should be required to collect the following
dry materials from all households, including flats, by the end of the financial year in which
payments to local authorities under Extended Producer Responsibility for packaging commences
(currently proposed to be 2023/4 subject to consultation)? (P26)
Agree –this material
can be collected in
this timeframe
Aluminium foil

X

Aluminium food
trays
Steel and aluminium
aerosols
Aluminium tubes,
e.g. tomato puree
tubes
Metal jar lids

X

Food and drink
cartons, e.g.
TetraPak

X

Disagree –this
material can’t be
collected in this
timeframe

Not sure /don’t have
an opinion /not
applicable

X
X

X

Q7
If you have disagreed with the inclusion of any of the additional materials above in the
timeframe set out, please state why this would not be feasible, indicating which dry recyclable
material you are referring to in your response. (P27)
As a Waste Disposal Authority we previously requested, in response to the 2019 consultation, that
requirements for Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) be considered as part of this
second round of consultation, however it is not clear if HWRCs will need to collect the core set of
materials too.
Aluminium tubes are not commonly collected by Councils. It would be a difficult message regarding
food waste contamination with this waste, as it will be difficult to wash out. We suggest that tubes
are not included.

Page 69

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/9

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Q8
Some local authorities may not be able to collect all these items from all households at
kerbside by 2023/24. Under what circumstances might it be appropriate for these collection
services to begin after this date? (P28)
X Collection contracts
X Sorting contracts
X Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) infrastructure capacity
X Cost burden
X Reprocessing
X End markets
Other (please specify)
Please provide the reason for your response and indicate how long local authorities require before
they can collect all of these materials, following the date that funding is available from Extended
Producer Responsibility.
All of the above are criteria why a local authority may not be able to collect all these items by this
date. However, as appears likely these items will be covered by the EPR and local authorities will
receive their net costs for provision of services. If the EPR funding is not in place by 2023/24 and
local authority resources have been spent on arranging and commencing collection of these
materials we need to be sure that any costs will be funded as a “New Burden” and exactly how this
will work. This needs to be explicit within any legislation and/or statutory guidance.
All councils are at different starting points depending on what they currently collect and the reasons
why they have chosen their items will be due to individual/local circumstances including some/all of
the above.
Many local authorities, including North Yorkshire and York Councils, have made long-term financial
investments in technology to treat and dispose of municipal waste. Changes in waste composition
and waste volume arising from this consultation and the EPR, DRS consultations are likely to lead
to challenge, contractual change and additional costs from service providers. These
‘consequential’ costs do not appear to be considered within this consultation.
As per our response to the EPR consultation any costs paid to local authorities, whether through
EPR funding or “New Burdens “ funds should be net of an average price per tonne for each
material collected, providing that local authorities attaining a higher than average price (reflective of
good quality recyclate) retain the financial benefit. Quality recyclate is a key aim of these
consultations; this incentivises local authorities to recover high quality recyclate whilst an average
price per tonne could offer some protection from volatile markets subject to the methodology
applied. It is important that the risk of fluctuating material values rests with the packaging
producers or within “New Burdens” funding.
We previously expressed concerns, in response to the 2019 consultation, regarding end markets.
Whilst proposals within this consultation and EPR consultation will increase demand, we are
unsure that this will meet the potential supply if collection standards for these materials are
reached. If this is the case who will take on the risk, will EPR funding or “New Burdens” funding
cover the full cost of these materials collected for recycling being sent for disposal due to lack of
markets.
The timescales for implementation of all parts of this consultation are very ambitious. With regard
to the EPR two critical steps must be in place; the Extended Producer Responsibility regulations,
and to appoint the Scheme Administrator. The timeline is to appoint the Scheme Administrator in
early 2023, but these timings are subject to parliamentary approval of the Environment Bill. If the
EPR is not fully functioning it will have a knock on effect and will affect funding for some of the dry
material required to be collected by local authorities within this consultation. The proposals within
this Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England consultation require significant
resources from local authorities concerning planning future services, re-negotiation of contracts,
preparing and tendering new contracts, suppliers of services acquiring new /additional
infrastructure, vehicles, containers, acquirement of planning permission for required facilities, all

Page 70

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
against a fairly limited current infrastructure availability. Further limitation on the 2 years and 4
months currently available for local authorities and suppliers etc., due to proposals not being fully
formed by DEFRA will exacerbate the pressures already on those involved further.

Q9
Do you agree or disagree that food and drink cartons should be included in the plastic
recyclable waste stream in regulations, to reduce contamination of fibres (paper and card)? (P28)
Agree – cartons should be included in the plastic recyclable waste stream.
Disagree – cartons should be included the paper and card recyclable waste stream.
X Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable.
Please provide the reason for your response and state if there are any unintended consequences
that we should consider.
Our understanding is that paper mills have technology to separate out different fibres, could this
technology be applied at MRFs to separate out cartons, whichever mix of materials they are
collected within?
Putting cartons in the plastic stream may be confusing for residents as it would not easily be
identifiable as a plastic product.
We oppose any option that collects cartons separately.
Q10 Assuming food and drink cartons are included by the date that Extended Producer
Responsibility commences, what would be the financial impact on gate fees and processing costs
from sending mixed material streams containing cartons into a Materials Recovery Facility? (P28)
No increase
0–9% increase
10–20% increase
21-100% increase
X Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
Please provide the reason for your response.
Proposal 2 - Collection of plastic films from households
Q11 Do you agree or disagree that local authorities should adopt the collection of this material
from all households, including flats, no later than 2026/27? (P29)
Agree
Disagree
X Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
The main issues are the availability of MRFs capable of processing these materials, end markets
and opportunities for customers especially householders to store additional materials. The EPR
should encourage producers to move away from this material to a more recyclable one, rather than
potentially putting in methods for recycling it. If put in place there will be significant costs
particularly for change of collection systems and MRFs this will need to be covered by the EPR
funding.
Q12 Which of the following reasons might prevent plastic film collections being offered to all
households by the end of the financial year 2026/27? (P29)
X Collection contracts
X Sorting contracts
X Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) infrastructure capacity
X Cost burden
X Reprocessing
X End markets
Other (please specify

Page 71

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Please provide the reason for your response and provide evidence to support your answer.
All of the above are criteria why a local authority may not be able to collect all these items by this
date. However, as appears likely these items will be covered by the EPR and local authorities will
receive their net costs for provision of services. If the EPR funding is not in place by 2026/27 we
need to be sure that any of these additional costs will be funded as “New Burdens” and exactly
how this will work. There is no detail of how exactly “New Burden” funding will be accessed by
Local Authorities and this is a major concern.
The main issues are the availability of MRFs capable of processing these materials, end markets
and opportunities for customers especially householders to store additional materials. The EPR
should encourage producers to move away from this material to a more recyclable one, rather than
potentially putting in methods for recycling it. If put in place there will be significant costs
particularly for change of collection systems and MRFs that will need to be covered by the EPR
funding.
Many local authorities, including North Yorkshire and York Councils, have made long-term financial
investments in technology to treat and dispose of municipal waste. Changes in waste composition
and waste volume arising from this consultation and the EPR, DRS consultations are likely to lead
to challenge, contractual change and additional costs from service providers. The ‘consequential’
costs in regard to these materials do not appear to be considered within this consultation.
As per our response to the EPR consultation any costs paid to local authorities, whether through
EPR funding or “New Burden “ funds should be net of an average price per tonne for each
material collected, providing that local authorities attaining a higher than average price (reflective of
good quality recyclate) retain the financial benefit. Quality recyclate is a key aim of these
consultations; this incentivises local authorities to recover high quality recyclate whilst an average
price per tonne could offer some protection from volatile markets subject to the methodology
applied. It is important that the risk of fluctuating material values rests with the packaging
producers or within New Burdens funding.
We previously expressed concerns, in response to the 2019 consultation, regarding end markets.
Whilst proposals within this consultation and EPR consultation will increase demand, we are
unsure that this will meet the potential supply if collection standards for these materials are
reached. If this is the case who will take on the risk, will EPR Full Net Cost funding or “New
Burdens” funding cover the full cost of these materials collected for recycling being sent for
disposal due to lack of markets.
There needs to be best practice guidance on how to collect these items at the kerbside and
residents require information on how to present the items for recycling covering such things as to
why loose film can cause problems for processing. There may be issues with bagged up and tied
film.
Proposal 3 & 4 – Food waste
Q13 Do you agree or disagree that the above should be collected for recycling within the food
waste stream? (P35)
Agree
X Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and specify which materials should be
included or excluded in this definition.
There is no consideration of the waste hierarchy or the Waste Prevention Plan consultation running
in parallel to this consultation. Whilst prevention will hopefully mean that only “Food scraps” need
processing, we need to be realistic that some, hopefully a reducing amount of food waste past it's
use by date, food leftovers, cooked and uncooked food and other mouldy, inedible food will require
processing, but this could be done at home.

Page 72

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/12

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Food waste including cooked food waste can be managed at home using various proven tools
such as a Green Johanna, Bokashi bin or Green Cone. Tea bags, coffee grounds, vegetable and
fruit peelings can be successfully home composted negating the need for collection, processing
and significant costs of food waste.
Food waste collection would also damage the impact of the County Council’s waste prevention
campaigns based on successfully reducing food waste and increasing home composting across
North Yorkshire.
Q14

Which parts of Proposal 4 do you agree or disagree with? (P36)
Agree Disagree Not Sure or
Don’t have an
opinion
Local authorities already collecting food
X
waste separately must continue to collect
this material for recycling at least weekly
from the 2023/24 financial year
Local authorities should have a separate
X
food waste collection service (at least
weekly) in place for all household
properties including flats as quickly as
contracts allow
Local authorities without existing contracts X
in place that would be affected by
introducing a separate food waste
collection service should have a separate
food waste collection service in place (at
least weekly), for all households including
flats, by the 2024/25 financial year at the
latest
Local authorities with long term existing
X
mixed food/garden waste collection or
disposal contracts in place should have a
separate food waste collection service in
place (at least weekly) for all household
properties including flats as soon as soon
as contracts allow, with an end date to
meet this requirement between 2024/25
and 2030/31
Local authorities with long term residual
X
waste disposal contracts affected by
introducing a separate food waste
collection service (e.g. some Energy from
Waste or Mechanical Biological Treatment
contracts) should introduce a separate
food waste collection service (at least
weekly) to all households including flats as
soon as contracts allow, with an end date
to meet this requirement to be set
between 2024/25 and 2030/31
Please provide any views on the end date for these obligations and any evidence on associated
costs and benefits.
We are pleased to see that DEFRA are considering” barriers to implementing a separate food
waste collection service and we will be exploring the transitional barriers including costs (arising
from, for example, amending or breaking existing contracts where necessary) with those local
authorities”. However until it is clear local authorities will receive appropriate support and funding,

Page 73

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
that includes for consequential costs there will be financial uncertainty for those authorities who
have committed to long term residual waste treatment contracts.
We have concerns over the availability of Anaerobic Digestion and In-vessel composting facilities
nationally and locally and how this will affect the market prices for processing this material, has this
been considered?.
If mandated to collect food waste separately as a local authority “with a long term residual waste
disposal contracts affected by the introduction of a separate food waste collection service” we
would potentially need until 2030/31. This would enable us to take the most advantage of our
existing residual waste treatment contract and allow sufficient time for renegotiation with our
existing suppliers and/or potential suppliers of the necessary infrastructure for treating and
collecting food waste.
Q15 Some local authorities may experience greater barriers to introducing a separate food
waste collection service to all household properties, including flats, by the dates proposed above.
For what reasons might it be appropriate for these collection services to begin after this date?
(P37)
X Collection contracts
X Treatment contracts
X Cost burden
X Reprocessing
X End markets
Other (please specify)
If you have disagreed with any of the proposed implementation dates above, please provide
examples of circumstances where it would be appropriate for this collection service to begin after
these proposed dates and any supporting evidence where possible.
We are pleased to see that DEFRA are considering” barriers to implementing a separate food
waste collection service and we will be exploring the transitional barriers including costs (arising
from, for example, amending or breaking existing contracts where necessary) with those local
authorities”. However until it is clear local authorities will receive appropriate support and funding,
that includes for consequential costs there will be financial uncertainty for those authorities who
have committed to long term residual waste treatment contracts.
On page 12 under the ”New Burdens” heading Government says “ As part of the new duties
imposed on local authorities in the Environment Bill, central Government will fund net additional
capital costs (for example containers, vehicles), and transitional costs such as communications
and re-routing vehicles, to implement the new consistent collection measures.” We are concerned
that this does not mention ongoing operational costs, yet on page 31 in discussing Food Waste
“Government will ensure that local authorities are resourced to meet any new burdens arising from
this policy, including up front transition costs and ongoing operational costs”. Until explicitly laid out
uncertainty will remain with what costs are covered and therefore local authorities will be hesitant
in taking these proposals forward.
We have concerns over the availability of Anaerobic Digestion and In-vessel composting facilities
nationally and locally and how this will affect the market prices for processing this material, has this
been considered?.
Potential requirements to provide residual waste collection on an alternate weekly frequency will
reduce the effectiveness of any food waste collection system so as to reduce recycling
performance. Food waste collection performance is significantly improved when combined with a
three weekly residual waste collection frequency. Reducing collection frequency also improves the
cost effectiveness of collection systems and with weekly food waste collection targeting much of
the ‘smelly’ or offensive components of domestic waste the arguments for frequent residual waste
collections are significantly reduced.

Page 74

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/14

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Within the 2019 consultation North Yorkshire County Council did not support the introduction of a
minimum fortnightly refuse collection frequency, we believe this is something that councils should
be able to determine themselves. The focus should be on outcomes, leaving local councils free to
decide when to collect materials on the basis of what works for them, based on TEEP. These
decisions should be made locally taking into account the local area, housing types and
demographics
If mandated to collect food waste separately as a local authority “with a long term residual waste
disposal contracts affected by the introduction of a separate food waste collection service” we
would potentially need until 2030/31. This would enable us to take the most advantage of our
existing residual waste treatment contract and allow sufficient time for renegotiation with our
existing suppliers and/or potential suppliers of the necessary infrastructure for treating and
collecting food waste.
Proposal 5 - Caddy Liners
Q16 Do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please provide any other comments on the
use of caddy liners in separate food waste collections, including on any preferences for caddy liner
material types. (P39)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
Cady liners must break down through Anaerobic Digestion, IVC etc. Caddy liners need to be a
standard material supplied by the local authority and supported by “New Burdens” funding.
If left to the householder then they may purchase biodegradable / degradable or use other
inappropriate plastic bags to line their caddy, which will lead to problems/contamination at the
composting / AD facility.
Proposal 6 – Biodegradable and compostable packaging
Q17 Do you have any comments on how the collection and disposal of compostable and
biodegradable materials should be treated under recycling consistency reforms? For example, this
could include examples of what should be provided in guidance on the collection and disposal of
these materials. (P42)
Compostable packaging would have to be relevant to an actual event where ‘closed loop’
recycling/composting was in place and there would need to be evidence that the packaging has
been composted, to a PAS standard after the event.
Residents will not be able to differentiate between compostable/ biodegradable plastic bags. These
compostable/ biodegradable bags will end up in the proposed plastic films.

Q18 Do you agree or disagree that anaerobic digestion plants treating food waste should be
required to include a composting phase in the treatment process? (P42)
Agree
X Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
Please provide any evidence where possible and explain any advantages and disadvantages.
The consultation acknowledges that ‘At present, there cannot be reasonable certainty over whether
there are benefits to the final digestate and compost products resulting from the inclusion of
biodegradable and compostable plastic materials as feedstock’ . On this basis there appears to be
little merit to include a composting process at an AD plant, adding cost and resources, to address a
material that has unproven benefit. EPR is extending the producer pays principle to hard to recycle
packaging to incentivise producers to revaluate the composition of their waste. This principle
should be extended to biodegradable and compostable plastic materials as opposed to building
infrastructure around a hard to recycle waste stream.

Page 75

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/15

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Proposal 7 – Definition of Garden Waste
Q19 Do you agree or disagree with the materials included in and excluded from this description
of garden waste? (P46)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and specify which materials should be
included or excluded in this definition.
A number of local authorities also collect small Christmas trees if cut appropriately to fit within the
bin, tree bark and vegetarian animal bedding - guinea pigs/rabbits these could also be composted
and included with garden waste.
Proposal 8 –Free garden waste collection
Q20 Given the above costs, recycling benefits and carbon emissions reductions, do you agree
or disagree that local authorities should be required to introduce a free minimum standard garden
waste collection (240 litre containers, fortnightly collection frequency and throughout the growing
season45), if this is fully funded by Government, and if authorities remain free to charge for more
frequent collections and/or additional capacity? (P47)
Agree
X Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
Please provide any comments or evidence on the costs and benefits presented above.
NYCC does not support the proposal for a free fortnightly garden waste collection service. We see
the proposal as a retrograde step in terms of producer responsibility, as it will require residents with
no gardens to subsidise the collection costs related to the provision of this services to those who
do have gardens via taxation either from their Council Tax or national taxation.. The “New
Burdens” funding should allow Local Authorities to promote and manage home composting as a
priority prior to any consideration of free garden waste collections.
We believe that if they decide to local authorities should be able to make a charge for garden
waste collections to cover their costs.
If free collections were introduced then councils would need to set up additional garden waste
capacity, which could lead to a potential increased cost per tonne of garden waste. This would lead
to a loss in income for WCAs and there would be increased costs of operating the free service to
more households (more vehicles, staff and bins.
We have built up a significant number of households that compost at home, and these have no
ongoing cost, we are concerned that some residents would not continue to home compost if
councils started to collect food waste and/or garden waste free of charge. This would bring more
material into the waste stream, increasing collection and disposal costs.
The “growing season” term is probably not relevant in the current climate, with milder weather and
a longer gardening season - there is often garden waste available throughout the year or at least
10 months of the year
The proposed capacity of 240l per fortnight may not be suitable for the needs of all residents e.g. a
smaller capacity 140 litre may be better suited to many residents who may be elderly or have small
gardens. Whilst, the use of sacks (or multiple sacks) equivalent to this capacity for garden waste
presents a potential health and safety issue for residents and waste collection operatives alike.

We do not recognise the figures within the consultation on pages 43/44, you state that;

Page 76

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/16

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1




” Introducing a minimum free garden waste service would increase England’s
household recycling rate by approximately 5%”
“This also results in a 25% increase of garden waste tonnage collected for
recycling, shifted from residual waste.”
“The collection of garden waste for recycling or composting has several benefits,
including job creation and diverting the material from residual waste streams, where
it can end up in landfill and release harmful greenhouse gases.”

Of the 7 waste collection authorities in North Yorkshire 6 make charges for the collection of garden
waste. Our compositional analysis shows that 2.52% of residual waste is garden waste. If we
composted all garden waste within the residual waste stream we would have an additional 3362
tonnes, this equates to an additional 8% increase on the garden waste already collected for
composting and not a 25% increase shown within your figures. The additional 3362 tonnes of
garden waste would be a 1.2% increase in our recycling rate compared to the “increase England’s
household recycling rate by approximately 5% (WRAP estimate).” suggested within the
consultation.

This consultation document indicates an element of target chasing by requiring a service to collect
waste which could, possibly, should be treated through home composting processes. One of the
overarching objective of the Resources and Waste Strategy is to eliminate avoidable wastes of all
kinds by 2050 and yet this proposal seems intent on increasing capture of a material stream rather
than promoting the prevention of it in the first place via home composting. The proposal seems at
odds with the waste hierarchy. Free garden waste collections will increase the total amount of
waste arisings within North Yorkshire and across England as more waste is captured. It is
worrying that government is still using landfill as the benchmark for residual waste treatment.
This proposal is a waste of Government money. Do residents really use their residual bin to put in
garden waste or are they taking it to the garden waste skips at the HWRCs or home composting or
just leaving it in the garden. Some residents won’t currently have a garden waste bin but if they were
given one for free then they’d probably use it but this will only be creating kerbside tonnages that
didn't exist before as the waste would have gone into the home compost bin or taken to the HWRC.
Home composting needs to be the first option - a free home compost bin to every household that
wants one then a paid garden waste collection for those seems reasonable.
Proposal 9 – Other garden waste collection options
Q21 How likely are the following options to support the above policy aims? (P48)
Very
Likely
Unlikely
Likely
Provide updated guidance on reasonable X
charges for garden waste.
Issue clear communications to nonX
participating households.
Support on increasing home composting X
(e.g. subsidised bin provision).
Q22 Do you have any further comments on the above options, or any other alternatives that
could help to increase the recycling of garden waste and/or reduce the quantity of garden waste in
the residual waste stream? Please provide supporting evidence where possible. (P48)
We are pleased to see that within this second consultation DEFRA is seeking views on options,
either alongside or instead of a free, minimum collection service for garden waste, and the extent
to which they would achieve the aim of increasing the recycling of garden waste and decrease the
quantity of garden waste in residual waste streams. We fully support these options but in line with
the waste hierarchy “Support on increasing home composting (e.g. subsidised bin provision)”
should be the priority. We are disappointed that the benefits of home composting of food wastes

Page 77

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/17

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
does not appear to have been considered within this consultation. Food waste can be managed at
home using various proven tools such as a Green Johanna, Bokashi bin or Green Cone.
One of the overarching objective of the Resources and Waste Strategy is to eliminate avoidable
wastes of all kinds by 2050 and yet the “free garden waste collection” proposal seems intent on
increasing capture of a material stream rather than promoting the prevention of it in the first place
via home composting. The proposal seems at odds with the waste hierarchy. Free garden waste
collections will increase the total amount of waste arisings within North Yorkshire and across
England as more waste is captured.
Subsidised home composting and a promotional campaign is the best option for garden and some
food waste. Home composting should be the first option and then garden and food waste can be
tackled at home without the need for vehicles/reprocessing facilities/end markets/caddy liners etc.
If you have a garden then you should be expected to have a compost bin. A garden waste
collection should only be for those that can't manage a home compost bin or those that want to pay
for it.
Proposal 10 – Exemptions on separate collection of two recyclable streams
Q23 Could the following recyclable waste streams be collected together from households,
without significantly reducing the potential for those streams to be recycled? (P50)
Agree Disagree Not Sure / Don’t
have an opinion
Plastic and metal
X
Glass and metal
X
If you have agreed with either of the above, please provide evidence to justify why any proposed
exemption would be compatible with the general requirement for separate collection of each
recyclable waste stream.
Dependent upon the success of the EPR and DRS the tonnages of these materials are likely to
decrease within local authority recycling collections. This consultation requires a wider range of
material types to be collected, therefore it is essential that certain wastes are collected together to
reduce the cost of collection, resident confusion and apathy from having a multitude of recycling
containers/boxes/bins for collections As long as the MRF can separate materials to good quality
recyclate then it makes sense environmentally, economically and practicably to collect items
together. We are not aware of significant issues from processors used by collection authorities locally
with co-mingled collected recycling and nationally these schemes produce significantly higher
tonnages at less cost and are therefore efficient and effective.
Q24 What, if any, other exemptions would you propose to the requirement to collect the
recyclable waste in each waste stream separately, where it would not significantly reduce the
potential for recycling or composting? (P50)
Separate collections of each dry material type are not always necessary if councils can demonstrate
a suitable quality of the resulting material through mixed collections. From the research that we have
done with consultants it has shown that it is not always TEEP to do this in some areas.
We further suggest that an exemption for a combination of plastic, metal and glass is considered.
Efficient and effective systems in predominantly rural areas is more readily achieved when waste
streams are co-collected, and the separate collection of fibres ensures high quality recyclate is
recovered. Glass, plastic and cans are collected mixed currently in North Yorkshire and are giving a
good standard of recyclate.
If a MRF can produce high quality recyclate from mixed collections, using technological advances,
then using such a facility should lead to an exemption and this could be for all materials processed

Page 78

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/18

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
through the MRF. Our understanding is that where co-mingled collections take place the rejection
levels are low but collection tonnages are significantly higher than source separated collections.
With the potential implementation of the DRS there would be significantly less glass, cans and plastic
bottles to collect, whilst the proposed number of materials in the consistency set will increase. This
means it will be inevitable that items will be collected mixed as it will be impossible to collect all items
separately at the kerbside due to the number of containers/vehicle splits that would be required.
Additional containers for dry material separation, garden waste and food waste added to residents
needing to separate materials under DRS will not work and will lead to apathy and reduced tonnages
compared to comingled collections.
Proposal 11 – Exceptions on two or more streams collected together
Q25 Do you have any views on the proposed definition for ‘technically practicable’? (P54)
Like most respondents to the first consultation we support the need for Government to provide
flexible guidance for local authorities to take account of varying local circumstances. Council’s
need support to adopt a consistent approach to demonstrating when it may not be technically or
economically practicable to collect recyclable household waste in recyclable waste streams
separately, or circumstances in which separate collection may not have significant environmental
benefit. We believe this approach should be applied across all of the requirements for collection
including garden, food and residual waste to allow local decision making within an agreed national
framework.
Q26 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples cover areas where it may not be
‘technically practicable’ to deliver separate collection? (P54)
Agree
X Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree with any of the above, please provide the reason for your response and indicate
which example you are referring to.
The principles being developed within the EPR concerning payments to local authorities based on
rurality and geography need to be consistent with the principles within this consultation.
With the technological advancements in MRF sorting facilities, co-mingled and twin stream
collections could be put in place resulting in less health and safety issues especially in regard to
manual handling fewer containers at the kerbside and the use of wheeled containers rather than
boxes and bags which will help with an aging workforce .
The focus needs to be on the end products and what the MRF can deal with efficiently and
produce good quality material ready for reprocessing. If MRFs can process plastic, cans, glass and
cartons for example and separate these items to a similar quality as separated materials then it
makes sense technically, economically, environmentally and practically to collect these items
mixed.
Q27 What other examples of areas that are not ‘technically practicable’ should be considered in
this proposal? Please be as specific as possible. (P54)
Q28 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples cover areas that may not be
‘economically practicable’ to deliver separate collection? (P55)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree with any of the above, please provide the reason for your response and indicate
which example you are referring to.

Page 79

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/19

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Whilst we agree with the examples, from a financial point of view the costs of breaking existing
contractual arrangements and potentially procuring new suppliers need to be considered as well.
Q29 What other examples of ‘economically practicable’ should be considered in this proposal?
Please be as specific as possible. (P55)
Whilst we agree with the examples from a financial point of view the costs of breaking existing
contractual arrangements and potentially procuring new suppliers need to be considered as well.
The number of HMOs in an area could be criteria in TEEP assessment, as these are likely to
produce more food waste per household than standard properties
Like most respondents to the first consultation we support the need for Government to provide
flexible guidance for local authorities to take account of varying local circumstances. Council’s
need support to adopt a consistent approach to demonstrating when it may not be technically or
economically practicable to collect recyclable household waste in recyclable waste streams
separately, or circumstances in which separate collection may not have significant environmental
benefit. We believe this approach should be applied across all of the requirements for collection
including garden, food and residual waste to allow local decision making within an agreed national
framework.
Q30 Do you have any views on what might constitute ‘excessive costs’ in terms of economic
practicability? (P55) Concerns over WRAP family groups and the definition of efficient and effective
systems.
Food waste collection costs in urban and rural area will be significantly different. There will be
excessive costs for collection per tonnes/household in rural areas compared to urban locations.
The number of HMOs in an area could be criteria in TEEP assessment, as these are likely to
produce more food waste per household than standard properties.
Q31 Do you have any views on what should be considered ‘significant,’ in terms of cases where
separate collection provides no significant environmental benefit over the collection of recyclable
waste streams together? (P56)
If councils can demonstrate that the collected mixed material is being sorted and put back to what
it was designed for (closed loop recycling) then it can be demonstrated that there is no significant
environmental benefit from collecting it separately.
Like most respondents to the first consultation we support the need for Government to provide
flexible guidance for local authorities to take account of varying local circumstances. Council’s
need support to adopt a consistent approach to demonstrating when it may not be technically or
economically practicable to collect recyclable household waste in recyclable waste streams
separately, or circumstances in which separate collection may not have significant environmental
benefit. We believe this approach should be applied across all of the requirements for collection
including garden, food and residual waste to allow local decision making within an agreed national
framework.
Q32 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples for ‘no significant environmental
benefit’ are appropriate? (P56)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree with any of the above, please provide the reason for your response and indicate
which example you are referring to.

Page 80

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/20

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Q33 What other examples of ‘no significant environmental benefit’ should be included in this
proposal? Please be as specific as possible. (P56)
If councils can demonstrate that the collected mixed material is being sorted and put back to what
it was designed for (closed loop recycling) then it can be demonstrated that there is no significant
environmental benefit from collecting it separately.
Proposal 12 – Compliance and enforcement
Q34 Do you agree or disagree that local authorities should only be required to submit a single
written assessment for their service area? (P58)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
Q35 What other ways to reduce the burden on local authorities should we consider for the
written assessment? (P58)
Tools for Councils to show how one collection is of more benefit than another and a standardised
approach to excessive cost e.g. how to ensure in comparing costs we consider HMOs
appropriately– all councils will have some but what percentage per council. Standardised
consistent approach for local authorities to calculate the impacts.
Q36 What factors should be taken into consideration including in the written assessment? For
example, different housing stock in a service area, costs of breaking existing contractual
arrangements and/or access to treatment facilities. (P58)
The number of HMOs in an area could be criteria in TEEP assessment, as these are likely to
produce more food waste per household than standard properties.
The costs of breaking existing contractual arrangements and potentially procuring new suppliers
need to be considered as well.

Q37 Do you agree or disagree that reference to standard default values and data, which could
be used to support a written assessment, would be useful? (P59)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
These may be useful but they would need to consider fully the diverse nature of local authorities
especially those that are more rural. Reference values and data should not be used as the default
or benchmark for comparison by those evaluating the written statement. There needs to be an
ability to override the default values and data if we have evidence that is different to those values.
Q38 Do you agree or disagree that a template for a written assessment would be useful to
include in guidance? (P59)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
There needs to be opportunity to add content from a local perspective.

Page 81

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/21

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Proposal 13 – Minimum service standards of dry recyclable materials
Q39 Do you agree or disagree with Proposal 13, particularly on the separation of fibres from
other recyclable waste streams and the collection of plastic films? (P61)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
We support the principle that the collection of household waste and resources should be carried
out in accordance with broad national standards as proposed in the Resources and Waste
Strategy, supported by clear and consistent messaging. However, it is critical that any new system
is fair, and does not place increased costs onto local authorities elsewhere. The focus should be
on outcomes, leaving local councils free to decide if, how and when to collect materials on the
basis of what works for them based on TEEP.
Guidance is welcomed on the separate collection of fibres and film. Plastic films are not commonly
collected and we would need guidance on how to introduce this to collection schemes.
Proposal 14 – Non-statutory guidance
Q40 Which service areas or materials would be helpful to include in non- statutory guidance?
(P63)
As a Waste Disposal Authority we previously requested, in response to the 2019 consultation, that
requirements for Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) be considered as part of this
second round of consultation, however it is not clear if HWRCs will need to collect the core set of
materials.
Proposal 15 – Review of Environmental Permitting Regulations
Q41 Do you have any comments on the recommendations from the review of the Part 2 of
Schedule 9 of the Environmental Permitting Regulations? (P64)
Greater clarity is required on the revised sampling requirements especially for smaller bulking
points where the available space is limited.
Q42 If amendments are made to Part 2 of Schedule 9, do you agree or disagree that it is
necessary to continue to retain requirements to sample non-packaging dry recyclable materials?
(P64)
Agree
Disagree
X Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
Please provide the reason for your response where possible.
Proposal 16 – Recycling Credits
Q43 Do you agree or disagree that provision for exchange of recycling credits should not relate
to packaging material subject to Extended Producer Responsibility payments? (P68)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
Please provide the reason for your response.
Whilst locally we operate recycling credit payment for dry materials including those in scope of the
EPR we operate a local arrangement for garden waste offering to take ownership of this waste
collected by collection authorities and cover the disposal cost. Otherwise, a payment based on
savings is made.

Page 82

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/22

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
As the consultation states “The intention behind recycling credits was to ensure that savings from
avoided waste disposal costs by a Waste Disposal Authority were shared with Waste Collection
Authorities to provide a financial incentive to improve recycling and to reduce disposal costs”.
However, whilst the cost of processing (and income from some materials) may be significantly
lower than the recycling credit and hence makes a mockery of recycling credits, if collection
authorities do not receive an equal level of funding through the EPR or “New Burdens” then there
may be significant financial issues for collection authorities.
With respect to the payment of recycling credits in relation to non-packaging waste, such as
newspapers, magazines or food waste, local arrangements should be made based on sharing
costs and/or savings arising from the management of these wastes. However, where agreement
cannot be arrived at it may still be necessary to have some legally based backstop for payments.

Q44 In relation to recycled waste streams not affected by Extended Producer Responsibility or
which are not new burdens we are seeking views on two options: (P68)
 Option 1 Should we retain requirements for Waste Disposal Authorities to make
payment of recycling credits or another levy arrangement with Waste Collection
Authorities in respect of non-packaging waste?
 Option 2 Should we discontinue recycling credits and require all two-tier authorities to
agree local arrangements?
Agree Disagree Not Sure / Don’t
have an opinion /
not applicable
Option 1
X
Option 2
X
Q45 Where local agreement cannot be arrived at what are your suggestions for resolving these?
For example, should a binding formula be applied as currently and if so, please provide examples
of what this could look like. (P68)
Any back up should consider cost and mutual benefit and needs to be enforceable.
Proposal 17 – dry recycling collections from non-household premises
Q46 Do you agree or disagree that waste collectors should be required to collect the following
dry materials from all non-household premises for recycling, in 2023/24? (P76)
Agree –this
Disagree –this
Not sure / Don’t
material can
material can’t be have an opinion
be collected in collected in this
/not applicable
this timeframe timeframe
Aluminium foil
X
Aluminium food
trays
Steel and
aluminium aerosols
Aluminium tubes,
e.g. tomato puree
tubes
Metal jar lids

X

Food and drink
cartons, e.g.
TetraPak

X

X
X

X

Page 83

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/23

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
If you disagree with the inclusion of any of the materials above in the timeframe set out, please
provide the reason for your response and indicate which dry recyclable material you are referring
to.
Waste collectors should not be required to collect these dry materials from all non-household
premises for recycling, in 2023/24. This is unless this is co-ordinated and at the same point in time
as local authorities are commencing collection of these materials from household sources, and
funding from producers under the EPR funding is available where appropriate.
Q47 Some waste collectors may not be able to collect all the items in the dry recyclable waste
streams from all non-household municipal premises in 2023/24. Under what circumstances might it
be appropriate for these collection services to begin after this date? (P76)
X Collection contracts
X Sorting contracts
X Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) infrastructure capacity
X Cost burden
X Reprocessing
X End markets
Other (please specify)
Please provide the reason for your response and indicate how long waste collectors require before
they can collect all these materials.
All of the above are criteria why waste collectors may not be able to collect all these items by this
date. However, as appears likely these items will be covered by the EPR and local authorities and
other waste collectors will receive their net costs for provision of services. If the EPR funding is not
in place by 2023/24 we need to be sure that any additional costs will be funded as a “New Burden”
and exactly how this will work.
Many local authorities, including North Yorkshire and York Councils, have made long-term financial
investments in technology to treat and dispose of municipal waste. Changes in waste composition
and waste volume arising from this consultation and the EPR, DRS consultations are likely to lead
to challenge, contractual change and additional costs from service providers. These
‘consequential’ costs do not appear to be considered within this consultation.
As per our response to the EPR consultation any costs paid to local authorities, whether through
EPR funding or “New Burdens “ funds should be net of an average price per tonne for each
material collected, providing that local authorities attaining a higher than average price (reflective of
good quality recyclate) retain the financial benefit. Quality recyclate is a key aim of these
consultations; this incentivises local authorities to recover high quality recyclate whilst an average
price per tonne could offer some protection from volatile markets subject to the methodology
applied. It is important that the risk of fluctuating material values rests with the packaging
producers or within “New Burdens” funding.
We previously expressed concerns, in response to the 2019 consultation, regarding end markets.
Whilst proposals within this consultation and EPR consultation will increase demand, we are
unsure that this will meet the potential supply if collection standards for these materials are
reached. If this is the case who will take on the risk, will EPR funding or “New Burdens” funding
cover the full cost of these materials collected for recycling being sent for disposal due to lack of
markets.
Proposal 18 – Collection of film from non-household premises
Q48 Do you agree or disagree that collections of plastic films could be introduced by the end of
2024/25 from non-household municipal premises? (P77)
Agree
X Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable

Page 84

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and any evidence as to why this
would not be feasible.
Why are the proposed dates not the same for household and non-household? these should be the
same 26/27.
Waste collectors should not be required to collect these dry materials from all non-household
premises for recycling, by 2024/25. This is unless this is co-ordinated and at the same point in time
as local authorities are commencing collection of these materials from household sources, and
funding from producers under the EPR funding is available.

Q49 Do you have any other comments on this proposal? For example, please specify any
barriers that may prevent collectors delivering these services. (P77)
Many local authorities, including North Yorkshire and York Councils, have made long-term financial
investments in technology to treat and dispose of municipal waste. Changes in waste composition
and waste volume arising from this consultation and the EPR, DRS consultations are likely to lead
to challenge, contractual change and additional costs from service providers. The ‘consequential’
costs in regard to these materials do not appear to be considered within this consultation.
As per our response to the EPR consultation any costs paid to local authorities, whether through
EPR funding or “New Burden “ funds should be net of an average price per tonne for each
material collected, providing that local authorities attaining a higher than average price (reflective of
good quality recyclate) retain the financial benefit. Quality recyclate is a key aim of these
consultations; this incentivises local authorities to recover high quality recyclate whilst an average
price per tonne could offer some protection from volatile markets subject to the methodology
applied. It is important that the risk of fluctuating material values rests with the packaging
producers or within New Burdens funding.
We previously expressed concerns, in response to the 2019 consultation, regarding end markets.
Whilst proposals within this consultation and EPR consultation will increase demand, we are
unsure that this will meet the potential supply if collection standards for these materials are
reached. If this is the case who will take on the risk, will EPR Full Net Cost funding or “New
Burdens” funding cover the full cost of these materials collected for recycling being sent for
disposal due to lack of markets.
There needs to be best practice guidance on how to collect these items at the kerbside and
residents require information on how to present the items for recycling covering such things as to
why loose film can cause problems for processing. There may be issues with bagged up and tied
film.
Proposal 19 – on-site food waste treatment technologies
Q50 Do you agree or disagree with Proposal 19? (P79)
Agree
Disagree
X Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
Q51 Do you have any other comments on the use of these technologies and the impact on costs
to businesses and recycling performance? (P80)
No
Proposal 20 – reducing barriers to non-household waste recycling
Q52 What are the main barriers that businesses (and micro-firms in particular) face to recycle
more? (P81)
Large barrier Some barrier
Low/no barrier
Communication

Page 85

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/25

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Financial
Space
Engagement
Drivers to segregate
waste
Location
Enforcement
Variation in bin colours
and signage
Contractual
Staff/training
Other
If you have selected other above, please specify. Don’t answer
Please provide any comments on how these barriers can be overcome.
Proposal 21 – exemptions and phasing on micro-firms
Q53 Should micro-firms (including businesses, other organisations and non-domestic premises
that employ fewer than 10 FTEs) be exempt from the requirement to present the five recyclable
waste streams (paper & card, glass, metal, plastic, food waste) for recycling? Please select the
option below that most closely represents your view and provide any evidence to support your
comments. (P83)
Yes – all micro-firms should be exempt from the requirement – Option 1
No – but all micro-firms should be given two additional years to comply with the new
requirements in the Environment Bill (i.e. compliant in 2025/26) – Option 2
X No – all micro-firms should be required to present these waste streams for recycling, from the
‘go live’ date in 2023/24 yes
The major issue for these businesses is storage capacity as the majority will not have space for a
single container let alone the number potentially required for separate collection of the various
waste streams.
As Micro-firms make up a considerable part of local businesses especially in rural areas and
contribute a substantial amount of waste where possible these materials need to be recycled
appropriately. Government needs to find a way to cover the potential financial cost to Micro-firms to
ensure they are not at a financial disadvantage from appropriately dealing with these wastes.
Q54 Should any non-household municipal premises other than micro-sized firms be exempt
from the requirement? Please provide evidence to support your comments. (P84)
No, regardless of storage capacity there should be a drive for communal arrangements for these
wastes. It is unfair for exemptions if domestic properties have to comply.
Proposal 22 – Waste franchising/zoning
Q55 Which recyclable waste streams should be included under a potential zoning scheme?
(P88)
Agree Disagree Not Sure / Don’t
have an opinion /
not applicable
Dry recyclable waste streams
X
Food waste
X
Other items e.g. bulky office waste
X

Page 86

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/26

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
We have concerns that it this is aimed at urban areas rather than rural areas. However, as long as
it is competitive it does makes more carbon sense.
Q56 Which of the below options, if any, is your preferred option for zoning/collaborative
procurement? Please select the option that most closely aligns with your preference. (P89)
 X Encouraging two neighbouring businesses to share the same containers under
contract preferred and legitimised
 Encouraging businesses to use shared facilities on a site/estate
 Business Improvement Districts/partnerships tendering to offer a preferential rate (optin)
 Co-collection – the contractor for household services also deliver the non-household
municipal services yes
 Framework zoning – shortlist of suppliers licensed to offer services in the zone
 Material specific zoning – one contractor delivers food, one for packaging, one for
refuse collection services no
 Exclusive service zoning – one contractor delivers the core recycling and waste
services for the zone yes
 None of the above
Zoning options are preferential but we have concerns that it is aimed at urban areas rather than
rural areas. But, as long as it is competitive it does makes more carbon sense.
We believe that there are several of these options that are appropriate besides Encouraging two
neighbouring businesses to share the same containers under contract preferred and legitimised –
share costs and seems reasonable. These include
 Encouraging businesses to use shared facilities on a site/estate
 Co-collection options encouraging two neighbouring businesses to share the same
containers under contract and encouraging businesses to use shared facilities on a
site/estate should be encouraged.
Q57 Do you have any views on the roles of stakeholders (for example DEFRA, the Environment
Agency, WRAP, local authorities, business improvement districts, businesses and other
organisations and chambers of commerce) in implementing a potential zoning or franchising
scheme? For example, do you think there could be roles for one or more of these organisations in
each of the following activities: (P89)
 Procurement
 Scheme design
 Administration and day to day management
 Enforcement
 Business support
 Development of tools and guidance
 Delivery of communications campaigns
 Any other activities (please specify)
If you think that there is a role for any other stakeholders, please specify.
We believe all of these stakeholders will have a role to play in the majority of these activities.
Please provide explanations where possible to support your above response.
Q58 Do you have any further views on how a potential waste collection franchising / zoning
scheme could be implemented? (P89)
No
Q59 Do you have any views on how Government can support non-household municipal waste
producers to procure waste management services collaboratively? This could include working with
other stakeholders. (P90)
No

Page 87

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/27

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Q60 Which type(s) of business support would be helpful? (Select any number of responses)
(P90)
X 1:1 support
X National /regional campaigns
X National guidance and good practice case studies
X Online business support tools (e.g. online calculators and good practice guidance)
Other (please specify)
N/a
Q61 Are there any barriers to setting up commercial waste bring sites, and do you find these
sites useful? (P90)
We currently offer a service at all 20 of our Household Waste Recycling Centres for businesses to
dispose and recycle many waste streams. Commercial waste bring sites would either need to be
manned (HWRC) or locked areas with only those legally agreeing to conditions of use able to
access them otherwise they will be liable to fly tipping and vandalism.
We are not aware of any dedicated commercial waste bring sites that are in current operation and
as these could have been implemented, but have not there must be reasons why.
Proposal 23 – exemptions to separate collection from non-household premises
Q62 Could the following recyclable waste streams be collected together from non-household
municipal premises, without significantly reducing the potential for those streams to be recycled?
(P91)
Agree Disagree Not Sure / Don’t
have an opinion
Plastic and metal
X
Glass and metal
X
If you have agreed with either of the above, please provide evidence to justify why any proposed
exemption would be compatible with the general requirement for separate collection of each
recyclable waste stream.
Dependent upon the success of the EPR and DRS the tonnages of these materials are likely to
decrease within recycling collections. This consultation requires a wider range of material types to
be collected, therefore it is essential that certain wastes are collected together to reduce the cost of
collection, customer confusion and apathy from having a multitude of recycling
containers/boxes/bins for collections
As long as the MRF can separate materials to good quality recyclate then it makes sense
environmentally, economically and practicably to collect items together. We are not aware of
significant issues from processors used by collection authorities locally with co-mingled collected
recycling and nationally these schemes produce significantly higher tonnages at less cost and are
therefore efficient and effective.
Q63. What, if any, other exemptions would you propose to the requirement to collect the recyclable
waste stream in each waste stream separately where it would not significantly reduce the potential
for recycling or composting?
Separate collections of each dry material type are not always necessary if it a suitable quality of the
resulting material through mixed collections can be demonstrated.
We further suggest that an exemption for a combination of plastic, metal and glass is considered.
Efficient and effective systems in predominantly rural areas is more readily achieved when waste
streams are co-collected, and the separate collection of fibres ensures high quality recyclate is
recovered. Glass, plastic and cans are collected mixed currently in North Yorkshire and are giving a
good standard of recyclate.

Page 88

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/28

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1

Proposal 24 – exemption on two or more recyclables from non-household premises
Q64 Do you have any views on the proposed definition for ‘technically practicable’? (P93)
The proposed principle of “separate collection” appears to be DEFRA’s baseline, TEEP needs to
consider all forms of collection systems and not focus purely upon separate collection, with other
collection systems potentially allowed by exception.
Q65 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples cover areas where it may not be
‘technically practicable’ to deliver separate collection? (P94)
Agree
X Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you have disagreed with any of the above, please say why and indicate which example you are
referring to.
With the technological advancements in MRF sorting facilities, co-mingled and twin stream
collections could be put in place resulting in less health and safety issues especially in regard to
manual handling fewer containers at the kerbside and the use of wheeled containers rather than
boxes and bags which will help with an aging workforce.
The focus needs to be on the end products and what the MRF can deal with efficiently and
produce good quality material ready for reprocessing. If MRFs can process plastic, cans, glass and
cartons for example and separate these items to a similar quality as separated materials then it
makes sense technically, economically, environmentally and practically to collect these items
mixed.
Q66 What other examples of areas that are not ‘technically practicable’ should be considered in
this proposal? Please be as specific as possible. (P94)

Q67 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples cover areas that may not be
‘economically practicable’ to deliver separate collection are appropriate? (P94)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree with any of the above, please provide
Whilst we agree with the examples, from a financial point of view the costs of breaking existing
contractual arrangements and potentially procuring new suppliers need to be considered as well.
If you have disagreed with any of the above, please say why and indicate which example you are
referring to.
Q68 What other examples of ‘economically practicable’ should be considered in this proposal?
Please be as specific as possible. (P95)
Whilst we agree with the examples, from a financial point of view the costs of breaking existing
contractual arrangements and potentially procuring new suppliers need to be considered as well.
Q69 Do you have any views on what might constitute ‘excessive costs’ in terms of economic
practicability? (P95)
Q70 Do you have any views on what should be considered ‘significant,’ in terms of cases where
separate collection provides no significant environmental benefit over the collection of recyclable
waste streams together? (P95)

Page 89

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/29

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
If it can be demonstrated that the collected mixed material is being sorted and put back to what it
was designed for (closed loop recycling) then there is no significant environmental benefit from
collecting it separately.
Q71 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples for ‘no significant environmental
benefit’ are appropriate? (P95)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you have disagreed with any of the above, please say why and indicate which example you are
referring to.
Q72 What other examples of ‘no significant environmental benefit’ should be included in this
proposal? Please be as specific as possible. (P96)
If it can be demonstrated that the collected mixed material is being sorted and put back to what it
was designed for (closed loop recycling) then there is no significant environmental benefit from
collecting it separately
Proposal 25 – compliance and enforcement
Q73 What ways to reduce the burden on waste collectors and producers should we consider for
the written assessment? (P97)
Tools to show how one collection is of more benefit than another and a standardised approach to
excessive cost e.g. how to ensure costs are considered appropriately.
Q74 We are proposing to include factors in the written assessment which take account of the
different collection requirements, for example, different premises within a service area. What other
factors should we consider including in the written assessment? (P98)
The major issue in more rural areas is that the majority of businesses have extremely limited
storage capacity and the majority may not have space for a single container let alone the number
potentially required for separate collection of the various waste streams. This needs to be a
consideration.
Q75 Would reference to standard default values and data, that could be used to support a
written assessment, be useful? (P98)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
These may be useful but would need to consider fully the diverse nature of the areas considered,
especially those that are more rural. Reference values and data should not be used as the default
value or as the benchmark for comparison by those evaluating the written statement. There needs
to be an ability to override the default values and data if there is evidence that is different to those
values.

Q76 Do you agree or disagree that a template for a written assessment would be useful to
include in guidance? (P98)
X Agree
Disagree
Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.

Page 90

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/30

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
There needs to be opportunity to add content from a local perspective.
Q77 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed approach to written assessments and nonhousehold municipal collections will deliver the overall objectives of encouraging greater
separation and assessing where the three exceptions (technical and economical practicability and
environmental benefit) apply? (P98)
Agree
Disagree
X Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable
Proposal 26 – costs and benefits
Q78 Do you have any comments and/or evidence on familiarisation costs (e.g. time of FTE(s)
spent on understanding and implementing new requirements) and ongoing costs (e.g. sorting
costs) to households and businesses? (P103)
Q79 Do you have any comments on our impact assessment assumptions and identified impacts
(including both monetised and unmonetised)? (P103)

Page 91

NYCC –14 June 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England/31

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
14 June 2021
Household Waste Recycling Centre Service Provision
Report of Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To inform the Corporate Director Business and Environmental Services (BES) and BES
Executive Member for Open to Business of the services provided at Household Waste
Recycling Centres (HWRCs) during the coronavirus pandemic, and to agree new ways of
working once national coronavirus restrictions are removed.

2.0

Executive Summary

2.1

Government’s published roadmap to ease restrictions across England and to provide a
route back to a more normal way of life suggest that limits on social contact could be
removed no earlier than 21 June 2021. Whilst such easing of restrictions are subject to
passing of certain tests, this is an indicative timescale for when some of the current
temporary measures at HWRCs could be withdrawn.

2.2

When Government does ease national restrictions, the Council proposes to continue to
provide a HWRCs with a ‘meet and greet’ approach to customer service and a limit on
trailer size subject to review over a 12-month period.

3.0

Key Background Information

3.1

The County Council has a duty as a waste disposal authority (WDA) under the
Environmental Protection Act (1990) to provide places where residents can take their
household waste for disposal. The County Council fulfils this duty through the provision of
20 household waste recycling centres (HWRCs).

3.2

At the start of the first national lockdown in March 2020 the response of most local
authorities was to close non-essential services including HWRCs. As government and
industry guidance changed, North Yorkshire HWRCs reopened on a phased basis between
the 6th and the 19th May 2020, with Stonefall HWRC reopening 18th June 2020.

3.3

Social distancing measures to protect staff and visitors enabled the sites to reopen safely,
including:

Site specific limits on the number of vehicles permitted on site

Large trailers (>1.8m in length) are not permitted

Small trailers (<1.8m in length) are permitted at 10 sites

Only one person is permitted out of their vehicle at a time, unless disposing of heavy
or bulky items

Assistance cannot be given by site operatives

Many sites were reconfigured to reduce the number of parking bays and to minimise
pedestrian movements

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/1

Page 93

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

3.4

3.5

3.6

In addition to the network wide measuresError! Reference source not found., further
arrangements enabled the busiest site, Stonefall HWRC, to reopen safely including:

traffic management to manage the queuing on the access road and out onto the
A661,

exclusion of commercial customers (redirected to West Harrogate), and

no chargeable waste or asbestos is accepted to maximise throughput on site.
Forward Planning
Government’s published roadmap to ease restrictions across England and to provide a
route back to a more normal way of life suggest that limits on social contact could be
removed no earlier than 21st June 2021. Whilst such easing of restrictions are subject to
passing of certain tests (vaccination programme, effectiveness on reducing hospitalisations/
mortality and infection rates, new variants etc.), this is an indicative timescale for when
some of the current temporary measures at HWRCs could be withdrawn. It is less clear
however, whether the societal consequences of the pandemic will be with us in the long
term. Many organisations, for example, are looking at their previous office based working
practices and see benefits of agile working. A higher degree of home working is likely to be
responsible for more people visiting the HWRCs during the pandemic and is set to
continue, so whilst social distancing may no longer be required changes to the HWRCs
service may still need consideration.
Despite social distancing measures being in place, the HWRC network has received 60,000
more visits in 2020/21 compared to the same period the previous year. The waste service
and Yorwaste have been looking at options, both short and long term, to ensure the
HWRCs are able to meet increased demand. The immediate priority however, is to continue
to provide the following service standards when national restrictions are lifted in order that
continuity of service for residents is maintained.


Retention of meet and greet. Meet and greet was introduced during the pandemic to
control the number of vehicles on site. Customer advice at the site entrance includes
the site layout and the facilities available to reuse, recycle and compost their waste in
order to increase performance and to promote the efficient delivery of waste
materials. It is not envisaged that meet and greet will be implemented at quiet sites,
where visitor numbers do not justify this approach.
To implement meet and greet approach and avoid affecting staffing numbers,
Yorwaste will ’provide assistance where needed unless staff are engaged with other
duties such as health and safety matters’. The precise wording is critical to achieve
the desired level of customer service. The Yorwaste Agreement defines a minimum
standard of active assistance as:
‘actively assisting Customers with the deposit of their Waste by requesting whether a
customer requires assistance, physical collection from the Customer or their vehicle,
physical separation and assistance in the deposit of waste into such containers as
required’ and
’actively separating/retrieving recyclable waste and encouraging Customers to recycle
their waste’.
The proposed approach is not active assistance, rather assistance where needed or
required. Site operatives will still provide assistance where it is required/asked for, but
will not assist each customer. Operatives will wear hi-viz with ‘We’re here to help, just
ask’ type messaging to encourage residents to request assistance where needed. It is
acknowledged that it is a fine line in finding the right balance between being overly
prescriptive and using common sense and sound judgement. To ensure an
appropriate and measured approach to customer assistance, it is proposed to
implement the meet and greet system on a 12 month trial and to review customer
feedback at regular intervals prior to consideration of a formal, long term change to
contract clauses within the Yorwaste Agreement.
NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
Page
94
DEFRA Consultations
on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/2

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE



Trailers. There were no limits on the size of trailers prior to the introduction of
temporary covid-19 measures (except Wombleton HWRC that could not accept
trailers due to its size). In practice, large agricultural trailers could deliver huge
volumes of household waste potentially filling a skip and preventing access to other
residents. Since the introduction of a temporary 1.8 metre limit there have been 6
complaints concerning this rule. Yorwaste suggest that maintaining a limit improves
the safety of site users by ensuring that large trailers are not reversing and
manoeuvring in confined spaces.
Yorwaste have undertaken site by site assessments and consider that trailers limited
by size could be accepted at 15 HWRCs excluding Malton, Tadcaster, Leyburn and
Settle in addition to Wombleton. The creation of parking bays at some sites for
residents with trailers will permit meet and greet staff to control the number of trailers
on site at any one time.
The waste service reviewed other local authorities’ approaches to trailers at HWRCs.
There is no common or standardised approach, however many do limit trailer size. A
common trailer size to purchase is 6 feet or 1.86 metre in length. The Council
proposes a 2 metre limit to avoid unnecessary disruption to residents. Residents with
a trailer exceeding 2 metres in length (internal dimension) will be informed of their
options including to return with the waste in a permitted vehicle or smaller trailer, find
alternative means of disposal such as charity collections/ shops, or to utilise the
charged for bulky waste collection services provided by the district and borough
councils.

4.0

Financial Implications

4.1

None at this stage.

5.0

Legal Implications

5.1

None at this stage. The Council will amend contract clauses if the proposed changes are
permanent.

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

Protected groups receive assistance. The Council will continue to provide residents with an
on line service to make a prior arrangement with Yorwaste to ensure those who require
assistance receive it. At present, this service is not widely utilised. An EIA screening has
been carried out and whilst there may be some impact on some protected characteristics,
the mitigations proposed are felt sufficient to alleviate any foreseeable issues that may
arise. It will be however be monitored over the next 12 months and if any further changes
are required, Members will be advised. See Appendix A.

7.0

Climate Impact

7.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse climate change impacts
arising from the recommendation. A Climate Change Impact Assessment is included as
Appendix B of this report.

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/3

Page 95

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

8.0

Conclusion

8.1

The HWRC service has coped with increased visitor numbers at a time when social
distancing measures have limited onsite capacity. Despite this challenge, new ways of
working have helped meet demand. Continuing with a meet and greet approach and a limit
on trailer size on a 12 month trial basis from when social distancing measures are lifted, will
enable a full and detailed review into their effectiveness and allow the waste service to
explore further short and long term measures.

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director BES and BES Executive Member for
Open to Business note the contents of this report, and agree when national
coronavirus restrictions are removed, to continue to provide the HWRCs with a ‘meet
and greet’ approach to customer service and a limit on trailer size subject to review.

Michael Leah
Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Author of Report: Peter Jeffreys, Head of Waste.
Background papers: None

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
Page
96
DEFRA Consultations
on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/4

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix A
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be
appropriate or proportionate.
BES
Directorate
Waste Management, TECS
Service area
New ways of working at Household Waste
Proposal being screened
Recycling Centres (HWRCs) once Covid
restrictions are removed.
Kerry Green
Officer(s) carrying out screening
Government has published roadmap to ease
What are you proposing to do?
Coronavirus restrictions across England and to
provide a route back to a more normal way of life
and this suggests that limits on social contact
could be removed no earlier than 21st June
2021. Whilst such easing of restrictions are
subject to passing of certain tests, this is an
indicative timescale for when some of the current
temporary measures at HWRCs could be
withdrawn.
When Government does ease national
restrictions, the Council proposes to continue to
provide a HWRC service with a ‘meet and greet’
approach to customer service and a limit on
trailer size subject to review over a 12-month
period.
The HWRC service has coped with increased
Why are you proposing this? What
visitor numbers at a time when social distancing
are the desired outcomes?
measures have limited onsite capacity. Despite
this challenge, new ways of working have helped
meet demand. Continuing with a meet and greet
approach and a limit on trailer size on a 12
month trial basis from when social distancing
measures are lifted, will enable a full and
detailed review into their effectiveness and allow
the waste service to explore further short and
long term measures.
No. Meet and greet staff will be repurposed from
Does the proposal involve a
their pre-covid job requirement of providing
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.
active assistance to all visitors. This will now be
assistance where required, and so can be
absorbed within the existing staff operative
numbers.
Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by
the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristics
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal
relates to?

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/5

Page 97

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix A
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be an adverse impact
or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be carried
out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep for
advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic
Potential for adverse
Don’t know/No
impact
info available
Yes
No
Age
Possibly
Disability
X
Sex
X
Race
X
Sexual orientation
X
Gender reassignment
X
Religion or belief
X
Pregnancy or maternity
X
Marriage or civil partnership
X
NYCC additional characteristics
People in rural areas
X
People on a low income
X
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
X
Does the proposal relate to an area
No
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
No
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
EIA not relevant or
X
Continue
Decision (Please tick one option)
proportionate:
to full EIA:
The 2m size restrictions on trailers is an easing
Reason for decision
of the limits currently in place. So whilst rural
citizens may be more likely to own a trailer the
increase in size from 1.8m to 2m will enable
easier access. It is proposed that the trailer size
limit is trialled for 12 months so any complaints
and comments will be recorded and kept under
review to inform the longer term decision.
A change from active assistance to assistance
when required may impact on customers with
disability, pregnancy, or age related issues, but
as assistance will still be provided on request,
they are not adversely impacted on a
permanent basis, and mitigations are in place.
Michael Leah
Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
7 June 2021
Date

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/6

Page 98

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix B
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision making
process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 99

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.
Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people
involved in carrying out the impact
assessment
Date impact assessment started

New ways of working at Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) once Covid restrictions are
removed.
Government has published roadmap to ease restrictions across England and to provide a route back to
a more normal way of life and this suggests that limits on social contact could be removed no earlier
than 21st June 2021. Whilst such easing of restrictions are subject to passing of certain tests, this is an
indicative timescale for when some of the current temporary measures at HWRCs could be withdrawn.
When Government does ease national restrictions, the Council proposes to continue to provide a
HWRC service with a ‘meet and greet’ approach to customer service and a limit on trailer size subject to
review over a 12-month period.
Business and Environmental Services
Waste Management
Kerry Green
n/a
June 2021
NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/7

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix B
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options
were not progressed.
At the start of the first national lockdown in March 2020 all of the 20 HWRCs were closed. As the Government and industry guidance changed on
what constituted an essential service, North Yorkshire’s HWRCs reopened on a phased basis in May and June with a range of social distancing
measures in place to protect staff and the public. These measures included site specific limits on vehicle numbers permitted on site, restrictions on
the size of trailers allowed and which sites they could access, site reconfiguration and removal of assistance by site operatives. Alongside this a
meet and greet system took effect at the gate to control access and vehicle flow and to provide information on revised practices at the site to
visitors.
Despite social distancing measures being in place, the HWRC network has received 60,000 more visits in 2020/21 compared to the same period
the previous year. The waste service and its contractor have been looking at options, both short and long term, to ensure the HWRCs are able to
meet increased demand. The immediate priority however is to establish service standards when national restrictions are lifted in order that
continuity of service for residents is maintained.

Page 100

As a result, the meet and greet system is proposed to be maintained with a change to assistance where required or needed, rather than a pre-covid
approach of active assistance. The other change is in respect of trailer sizes. There were no limits on the size of trailers prior to the introduction of
temporary covid-19 measures (except Wombleton HWRC that could not accept trailers due to its size). When the HWRC were reopened it was
with the introduction of a temporary 1.8 metre limit on internal measurements of trailers. The waste service has done a review of other local
authorities’ approaches to trailers at HWRCs and whilst there is no common or standardised approach, many do limit trailer size. A common trailer
size to purchase is 1.86m length and so we propose to introduce a limit on 2m internal length, with trailers allowed at 15 sites (and excluded from
Wombleton, Malton, Tadcaster, Settle and Leyburn due to the small footprint of those sites).
There may be other longer term changes to HWRC service provision in the future and these will be subject to further Member reports and climate
assessments at the relevant time. This assessment considers the impacts of only these two changes.
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
This proposal will be cost neutral as the meet and greet staff are included within the existing HWRC management fee.

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/8

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Minimise greenhouse Emissions
from travel
gas emissions e.g.

Page 101

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing

X
X

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact
X

reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Appendix B
Explain how you plan Explain how you plan
to improve any
to mitigate any
positive outcomes as
negative impacts.
far as possible.

We will monitor the
level of complaints
arising because of the
trailer restrictions over
the period of the 12
month trial and include
this in the evaluation of
a long term approach.
Not applicable (no construction is envisaged Not applicable
through this proposal)

Allowing trailers at the
larger sites will
increase throughput of
customers at the site,
leading to reduced
traffic congestion and
associated emissions
from queuing.
Not applicable

It is not envisaged that the running of
buildings
will change through this proposal.

Not applicable

There may be an increase in people having
to travel further to access a HWRC that
does accept trailers when they might live
closer to a site that cannot allow trailer
access.

Not applicable

X

use of single use plastic

Reduce water consumption

X

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/9

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

X

Page 102

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)
Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

There may be an increase in traffic
movements to HWRCs further away from
the citizen’s home address.

Appendix B
Explain how you plan Explain how you plan
to improve any
to mitigate any
positive outcomes as
negative impacts.
far as possible.

Keep complaints under
review

X

risk, mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

Enhance conservation and
wildlife
Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape

X
X

Other (please state below)

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/10

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix B
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets
those standards.
The waste service regularly engages with best practice organisations such as NAWDO, LARAC, CIWM, APSE, ADEPT and WIDP to ensure that best
practice environmental standards are considered and adopted where practicable. WISH has also been instrumental in devising safe operating
practices for HWRCs during the Covid pandemic and we will continue to follow their guidance when it is updated.

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including
any legal advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
The proposal may have a slight adverse impact on traffic movements and distances that citizens have to travel to use a HWRC with a trailer. We
will keep this under review (using complaint levels) and will also work with the contractors to investigate options for reconfiguring sites to allow
greater turning space for trailers in the longer term.

Page 103

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Kerry Green
Contracts and Compliance Manager (waste)
Waste Management, TECS
BES
Kerry Green
7/6/2021

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Michael Leah, Assistant Director – Travel, Environment and Countryside Services
Date: 7 June 2021

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/11

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
14 June 2021
Proposed Extension of 30mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to advise the Corporate Director - Business and
Environmental Services (BES) and the Executive Member for Access of the
outcome of the public consultation and statutory advertisement which took place
with regard to this proposal and to ask for a decision to be made as to whether or
not the proposed amendment to the Speed Limit should be introduced.

1.2

A decision from the Corporate Director - BES and Executive Member for Access is
sought regarding the proposed Recommendation outlined in this report.

2.0

Background

2.1

A new residential housing development of approximately 40 properties is presently
being built to the west of Kneeton Lane adjacent to the existing limit of development
in the village.

2.2

In order to gain access to the new development a new side road junction is being
created with Kneeton Lane and this is located outside of the extent of the prevailing
30 mph Speed Limit. As such the junction is presently located in a section of road
subject to the National Speed Limit which is 60 mph for a private car.

2.3

Whilst the new junction has been designed with visibility splays which are appropriate
for the prevailing speed limit, it was felt appropriate to bring forward a proposal to
extend the 30 mph Speed Limit to cover the new junction and the frontage of the new
development.

2.4

The proposal is as shown on the map provided as Appendix A of this report.

3.0

Consultation

3.1

The proposal has been the subject of consultation and public advertisement in
accordance with the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and
Wales) Regulations 1996. The enabling Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) was
advertised for public comment in the local press, published on North Yorkshire
County Council’s website and by means of a Legal Notice placed on street in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure)
(England and Wales) Regulations.

3.2

A copy of the accompanying ‘Statement of Reasons’ which accompanied the details
of the proposal is provided with this report as Appendix B.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/1

Page 105

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.3

County Councillor Angus Thompson who is the local member representing
Richmondshire North was contacted during the consultation and is supportive of the
proposals.

3.4

At the conclusion of the consultation and public advertisement stages, one objection
to the proposal had been received. This was from the local Parish Council and raised
the following points:

the section of road in question lies adjacent to an existing and proposed
housing estate, a primary school, a turf business and two entrances to
‘Middleton Lodge’ which is a local hotel which also hosts events

the road is narrow in parts and subject to flooding

the existing 20 mph Speed Limit needs to be extended past the school and
ideally past the new housing development

the existing 30 mph Speed Limit needs to be extended to the ‘Coach House’
entrance to ‘Middleton Lodge’

the Parish Council is comprised of elected members who represent the people
who know and use Kneeton Lane, have children at the Primary School and
have witnessed the problems caused by excess speed.

4.0

Officer Comments

4.1

When giving consideration to a new or amended speed limit at a given location,
careful reference is made to various criteria established by the Department for
Transport which need to be met in order to justify a particular speed limit.

4.2

In the case of a 20 mph or 30 mph speed limit, there needs to be a certain level of
development adjacent to the section of road in question in order that a driver may
appreciate why the limit has been introduced. In this instance the 30 Mph speed limit
is proposed to be extended so as to cover a section of Kneeton Lane which will be
widened and have a new footway as part of the new development and its associated
vehicular and pedestrian accesses and it is not considered appropriate to extend it
further into what is effectively open countryside.

4.3

When a driver can appreciate why a particular speed limit is in place for an obvious
reason then the limit becomes self-enforcing which is the key objective. If the speed
limit was to be extended as far as the particular entrance to ‘Middleton Lodge’
suggested by the Parish Council then there would be a section of open countryside
approximately 700 metres in length after drivers passed the speed limit terminal signs
and before they entered the developed part of the village. In this circumstance it
would be expected that there would be very limited compliance with the limit with
drivers possibly then still travelling at an inappropriate speed as they entered the
actual village.

4.4

With regard to the request for the prevailing 20 mph Speed Limit to be extended, it is
understood that the access to the school in the section of road in question is not used
by pedestrians in order to enter the school and that as such there is not a
demonstrable need to extend the speed limit which has been in place since 2003.

4.5

It is considered that the proposed extension of the existing 30 mph Speed Limit will
assist in the safe operation of the new side road junction at the location in question
and thereby enable the County Council to comply with its duty under Section 122(1)
of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 to exercise their functions as road traffic
authority so as to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular
and other traffic (including pedestrians).

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/2

Page 106

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4.6

The proposed measures will also enable the County Council to carry out their
network management duty under Section 16 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 to
secure the expeditious movement of traffic on the authority’s road network.

5.0

Financial Implications

5.1

If the proposed extension to the 30 mph Speed Limit was to be approved then the
movement of the existing 30 mph Terminal Signs which give effect to the Speed Limit
would be undertaken by the developer at no cost to the Local Highway Authority.

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

An initial equality and impact assessment screening form has been completed for the
proposed waiting restrictions and a copy is provided with this report as Appendix C.

7.0

Legal Implications

7.1

The process for the consideration of objections to Traffic Regulation Orders was
approved by the Executive on 29 April 2014 and County Council on 21 May 2014.

7.2

The consideration of objections to Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) is now a matter
for the Executive and the role of the Area Constituency Committee is changed to a
consultative role on ‘wide area impact TROs’. The consideration of objections has
been delegated by the Executive to the Corporate Director – BES in consultation with
BES Executive Members.

7.3

The new decision making process relates to the provision and regulation of parking
places both off and on the highway where an objection is received from any person
or body entitled under the relevant statute. A ‘wide area impact TRO’ is classed as a
proposal satisfying all of the three criteria set out below;




the proposal affects more than one street or road and;
the proposal affects more than one community and;
the proposal is located within the ward of more than one County Councillor.

7.4

The proposed TRO for Kneeton Lane has not been classed as a ‘wide area impact
TRO’ and therefore the Area Constituency Committee’s views have not been sought.

7.5

In the event that the Corporate Director – BES and Executive Member for Access
resolves to follow the Recommendations contained in this report, then in accordance
with the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales)
Regulations 1996, the County Council will be required to make the relevant Traffic
Regulation Orders (with or without modifications) and publish a notice of making the
Orders in the local press before the Order comes into operation. The County Council
will also be required to notify the objectors of its decision and the reasons for making
that decision within 14 days of the Order being made.

7.6

In accordance with the protocol for BES Executive Member reports, the Local
Member will be provided with a copy of this report and be invited to the meeting on
14 June 2021.

7.7

Where an Order has been made (ie sealed), if any person wishes to question the
validity of the Order or any of its provisions on the grounds that it or they are not
within the powers conferred by the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, or that any

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/3

Page 107

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

requirement of the 1984 Act or of any instrument made under the 1984 Act has not
been complied with, they may apply to the High Court within six weeks from the date
on which the Order is made.
7.8

In recommending the implementation of the proposed TRO, officers consider that it
will enable the County Council to comply with its duties under Section 122 of the
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and Section 16 of the Traffic Management Act
2004, as detailed in Section 4 of this report.

8.0

Climate Change

8.1

A climate change impact assessment has been carried out, see Appendix D. The
impact of any changes to the waiting restrictions will be mom-existent as parking is
available on the adjacent highway

9.0

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that:
i)

the proposal to extend the existing 30 mph Speed Limit as outlined in
Appendix A under the delegated authority of the Corporate Director - BES, is
approved;

ii)

the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal and Democratic Services) be authorised
to seal the relevant Traffic Regulation Order to give effect to the proposed
extension of the existing 30 mph Speed Limit as identified in Appendix A,
(subject to the amendments and recommendations approved by the Corporate
Director – BES in consultation with the Executive Member for Access in light
of the objections received) and that the objectors are notified within 14 days of
the Order being made.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director – Highways & Transportation
Author of Report: Ian Beighton

Background Documents: None

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/4

Page 108

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/5

Page 109

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/6

Page 110

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/7

Page 111

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be
appropriate or proportionate.
Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened

BES
H&T
Speed limit, Kneeton Lane Middleton Tyas

Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

Neil Linfoot
Proposed extension of the current speed limit to
cover the new development entrance

Why are you proposing this? What
New development with access to highway that is
are the desired outcomes?
currently within the derestricted limit
Does the proposal involve a
No
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.
Is there likely to be an adverse impact on people with any of the following protected
characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed
characteristics?
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates
to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant adverse
impact or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be
carried out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep
for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

No

Don’t know/No
info available











Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)





NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/8

Page 112

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)

Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date

No.

No impact


EIA not
Continue to
relevant or
full EIA:
proportionate:
The proposed speed limit extension will have no
negative impact on people with protected
characteristics
(or
NYCCs
additional
characteristics) and will enable the County
Council to comply with its duties under Section
122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and
Section 16 of the Traffic Management Act 2004
Barrie Mason
03/06/21

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/9

Page 113

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 114

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal
Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Proposed extension of speed limit, Kneeton Lane Middleton Tyas
Extension of existing 30mph limit
Business and Environmental Services
Highways and Transportation
Neil Linfoot
Ian Beighton
19/04/21

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.
The area could be left within the derestricted speed limit area as the entrance has been set up accordingly but felt that it would be safer for all
highway users if the location was within a reduced speed limit

What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.

The implementation costs, if approved, will be met by the developer

Page 115
NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Emissions
from travel

X

reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

X

Page 116

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing use

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X

X

X

of single use plastic

Reduce water consumption

X

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

X

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/12

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood risk,

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X

Page 117

mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

X

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

X

Other (please state below)

X

Enhance conservation and wildlife

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.

The works will comply with the Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016 and in addition will utilise

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.

The proposals will be utilised to reduce the speed limit at a new point of access on to the highway and improve the visibility of the access

Sign off section

Page 118

This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Neil Linfoot
Improvement Manager
Highways and Transportation
Business and Environmental
N Linfoot
19/05/21

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 03/06/21

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Extension Of 30 Mph Speed Limit - Kneeton Lane, Middleton Tyas/14

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Agenda Item 11
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
14 June 2021
Proposed Introduction of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to advise the Corporate Director - Business and
Environmental Services (BES) and the Executive Member for Access of the
outcome of the public consultation and statutory advertisement which took place
with regard to this proposal and to ask for a decision to be made as to whether or
not the proposed Waiting Restrictions should be introduced.

1.2

A decision from the Corporate Director – BES in consultation with the Executive
Member for Access is sought regarding the proposed recommendation outlined in
this report.

2.0

Background

2.1

Officers have been made aware of an ongoing issue with the parking of vehicles at
the western end of Middleton Tyas Lane at Middleton Tyas, in the vicinity of the
entrance to ‘Scotch Corner Services’. It is believed that certain of the vehicles which
can be parked for an extended length of time belong to drivers who are then picked
up by other drivers operating a car share arrangement when travelling onwards.

2.2

The parking of vehicles at the location in question has been observed to cause
problems for the free flow of traffic and the operation of an adjacent side road
junction and causes drivers travelling into the village to have to cross the centre line
of the carriageway on a bend. On occasions inappropriately parked vehicles have
created problems with access to adjacent residential properties and past
interventions with the provision of ‘H’ bar keep clear markings across driveways have
met with limited success.

2.3

In an attempt to alleviate the various problems on a more permanent basis it was
therefore considered appropriate to propose the introduction of a formal system of
‘No Waiting At Any Time’ restrictions. These would be placed on each side of the
section of Middleton Tyas Lane where the parking problem has been identified and
other sections of road where it is anticipated that the inappropriate parking could
transfer to.

2.4

A site meeting was held with the local County Councillor and representatives of
Middleton Tyas Parish Council at the outset in order to agree the limits of the
proposal which is as shown on the map provided as Appendix A.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/1

Page 119

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.0

Consultation

3.1

The proposal has been the subject of consultation and public advertisement in
accordance with the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and
Wales) Regulations 1996. The enabling Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) was
advertised for public comment in the local press, published on North Yorkshire
County Council’s website and by means of a Legal Notice placed on street in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure)
(England and Wales) Regulations.

3.2

A copy of the accompanying ‘Statement of Reasons’ which accompanied the details
of the proposal is provided with this report as Appendix B.

3.3

County Councillor Angus Thompson who is the local member representing
Richmondshire North was contacted during the consultation and is supportive of the
proposals.

3.4

At the conclusion of the consultation and public advertisement stages, a number of
comments both in support of the proposal and objecting to the proposal had been
received. These are summarised in Appendix C along with officer comments.

4.0

Officer Comments

4.1

It is considered that the introduction of the proposed waiting restrictions will assist in
addressing the road safety concerns observed at the location in question.

4.2

The proposed measures will also enable the County Council to comply with its duty
under Section 122(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 to exercise its functions
as road traffic authority to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of
vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians) as well as its network management
duty under Section 16 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 to secure the expeditious
movement of traffic on the authority’s road network.

4.3

Officers have considered each of the responses received and have summarised
those responses along with an officer comment as Appendix C for consideration

5.0

Financial Implications

5.1

If the proposed waiting restrictions were to be introduced then the provision of
associated yellow lines would be funded from the Area Office ‘Signs, Lines and
Traffic Regulation Orders’ budget. No signing would be required.

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

An initial equality and impact assessment screening form has been completed for the
proposed waiting restrictions and a copy is provided with this report as Appendix D.

7.0

Legal Implications

7.1

The process for the consideration of objections to Traffic Regulation Orders was
approved by the Executive on 29 April 2014 and County Council on 21 May 2014.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/2

Page 120

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

7.2

The consideration of objections to Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) is now a matter
for the Executive and the role of the Area Constituency Committee is changed to a
consultative role on ‘wide area impact TROs’. The consideration of objections has
been delegated by the Executive to the Corporate Director – BES in consultation with
the Executive Member for Access.

7.3

The new decision making process relates to the provision and regulation of parking
places both off and on the highway where an objection is received from any person
or body entitled under the relevant statute. A ‘wide area impact TRO’ is classed as a
proposal satisfying all of the three criteria set out below;




The proposal affects more than one street or road and;
The proposal affects more than one community and;
The proposal is located within the ward of more than one County Councillor.

7.4

The proposed TRO for Middleton Tyas Lane has not been classed as a ‘wide area
impact TRO’ and therefore the Area Constituency Committee’s views have not been
sought.

7.5

In the event that the Corporate Director – BES and Executive Member for Access
resolves to follow the Recommendations contained in this report, then in accordance
with the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales)
Regulations 1996, the County Council will be required to make the relevant Traffic
Regulation Orders (with or without modifications) and publish a notice of making the
Orders in the local press before the Order comes into operation. The County Council
will also be required to notify the objectors of its decision and the reasons for making
that decision within 14 days of the Order being made.

7.6

In accordance with the protocol for BES Executive Member reports, the Local
Member will be provided with a copy of this report and be invited to the meeting on
14 June 2021.

7.7

Where an Order has been made (ie sealed), if any person wishes to question the
validity of the Order or any of its provisions on the grounds that it or they are not
within the powers conferred by the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, or that any
requirement of the 1984 Act or of any instrument made under the 1984 Act has not
been complied with, they may apply to the High Court within six weeks from the date
on which the Order is made.

7.8

In recommending the implementation of the proposed TRO, officers consider that it
will enable the County Council to comply with its duties under Section 122 of the
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and Section 16 of the Traffic Management Act
2004, as detailed in Section 4 of this report.

8.0

Climate Change

8.1

A climate change impact assessment has been carried out, see Appendix E. The
impact of any changes to the waiting restrictions will be mom-existent as parking is
available on the adjacent highway

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/3

Page 121

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

9.0

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that:
i)
the proposal to implement ‘No Waiting At Any Time’ restrictions as outlined in
appendix A under the delegated authority of the Corporate Director - BES, is
approved
ii)

the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal and Democratic Services) be authorised
to seal the relevant Traffic Regulation Order to give effect to the proposed ‘No
Waiting At Any Time’ restrictions as identified in Appendix A (subject to the
amendments and recommendations approved by the Corporate Director –
BES in consultation with the Executive Member for Access in light of the
objections received) and that the objectors are notified within 14 days of the
Order being made.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director – Highways & Transportation
Author of Report: Ian Beighton

Background Documents: None

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/4

Page 122

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A

Page 123
NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/6

Page 124

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/7

Page 125

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Results Of Consultation On Proposed Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas
Schedule Of Responses In Support Of Proposal
Consultee
1

2

Page 126

3

Consultee Comment
Cars are parked close to driveway causing a hazard when
leaving in a car and the proposed restrictions will prevent this.
Cars are parked for long periods of time by car sharers
and the proposed restrictions will prevent this and prevent
noise late at night when the drivers return.
Cars are parked partly obstructing the footway and the
proposed restrictions will prevent this.
HGVs are also parking at the location
Supports but would wish to see the restrictions extended past
the second access to their property
There are hazards caused by parked vehicles at the location in
question
Unsure as to whether visitors to properties adjacent to the
restrictions will be able to park
Unsure as to whether the parking problem will simply migrate
nearer to the centre of the village.

4
5

6

Some of the parking is believed to be caused by drivers
stopping to exercise dogs. Suggest that an appropriate
area is created at the nearby Services.
Long overdue as parked cars at the location in question are a
hazard
Fully supports this much overdue action
Parking adjacent to properties creates other problems with
litter

In support

Officer Notes
Noted
Noted

Noted
The restrictions will apply to these vehicles also
This could be accommodated but may draw an objection from the
resident at the next property towards the village who is now the first
house with no waiting restrictions
Noted
The proposed waiting restrictions would apply to visitors to local
residents who would need to park within the curtilage of a property or
on a section of road not subject to restrictions
This may happen but the parking of vehicles is more appropriate
on the straight section of road where forward visibility
for drivers passing a parked car is better than at the bend.
An approach can be made to the proprietors of the Services
to advise of this.
Noted
Noted
Litter Picking is a District Council function. The District
can be made aware of the issue and asked to provide
additional litter bins if thought appropriate.
Noted

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix C
7

8
9

Cars are parked close to driveway causing a hazard when
leaving in a car and the proposed restrictions will prevent this.
Cars are parked partly obstructing the footway and the
proposed restrictions will prevent this.
The proposed restrictions would be an advantage
Agree in principle with proposal but any restrictions placed
will need to be enforced.

When any restrictions are placed, the parking problem will
simply migrate nearer to the centre of the village.
10
11

Page 127

12

The existing parking situation is very inconsiderate
Accesses nearer to the centre of the village past the end of
the proposed restrictions should have appropriate
'Keep Clear' markings.
The existing ‘Bus Stop’ should be more clearly defined

Noted
Noted
Noted
Enforcement will be undertaken by the local Parking Enforcement
Officers commensurate with their other duties. A request
can however be made for any restrictions placed to receive
intensive enforcement during the first few weeks to get the
message across to drivers.
This may happen but the parking of vehicles is more appropriate
on the straight section of road where forward visibility
for drivers passing a parked car is better than at the bend.
Noted
This can be reviewed at an appropriate time if difficulties
become apparent.
Formal ‘Bus Stop’ roadmarkings can be considered if thought
necessary in order to define the area more clearly
It is not County Council Policy to provide the opportunity for
a Residents Parking Scheme at a location such as this where
all adjacent residents presently have access to private
off-street parking facilities.

Proposal is welcomed but parking on the side of the road
adjacent to properties should be restricted to
residential parking'.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/9

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Results Of Consultation On Proposed Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas
Schedule Of Responses Not In Support Of Proposal
Consultee
1

Consultee Comment
Drivers seeking to park a vehicle would be forced to
park further along the road
Such parking would obstruct the bus stop
Such parking would obstruct the view of drivers
emerging from adjacent driveways

Page 128

2

Drivers seeking to park a vehicle would be forced to
park further along the road
Such parking will lead to an increase in rubbish being
dropped

3

Drivers seeking to park a vehicle would be forced to
park further along the road
Cars would be turned round outside houses in the
area with waiting restrictions
The speed of traffic may increase as drivers search
for a place to park
The Waiting Restrictions should be extended
towards the village to discourage drivers seeking
to park

Officer Comment
This may happen but the parking of vehicles is more appropriate
on the straight section of road where forward visibility
for drivers passing a parked car is better than at the bend.
Formal 'BUS STOP' road markings can be considered if thought
necessary in order to define the area more clearly.
The provision of 'Keep Clear' Bar Markings can be reviewed
at an appropriate time if difficulties become apparent.
This may happen but the parking of vehicles is more appropriate
on the straight section of road where forward visibility
for drivers passing a parked car is better than at the bend.
Litter Picking is a District Council function. The District
can be made aware of the issue and asked to provide
additional litter bins if thought appropriate.
This may happen but the parking of vehicles is more appropriate
on the straight section of road where forward visibility
for drivers passing a parked car is better than at the bend.
This is achievable without a car needing to enter private
property and cannot really be guarded against.
Drivers will still be bound by the prevailing Speed Limit.
Waiting Restrictions can only be proposed for installation at
locations where there is a clear reason for this. Extending
the restrictions past the bend where drivers passing
parked vehicles have poor forward visibility of oncoming
traffic along a section of road with good forward visibility
would not be appropriate.
NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4

5

Drivers seeking to park a vehicle would be forced to
park further along the road
Waiting Restrictions with a limited period for parking
may work better and discourage the 'all day parkers'
believed to be causing the parking problem
Drivers seeking to park a vehicle would be forced to
park further along the road
Such parking would obstruct the view of drivers
emerging from adjacent driveways

Page 129

The 40 Mph Speed Limit should be reduced as
parked cars obstruct the view of driveways

This may happen but the parking of vehicles is more appropriate
on the straight section of road where forward visibility
for drivers passing a parked car is better than at the bend.
The sections of road where the restrictions are proposed
for are not considered appropriate even for limited parking.
This may happen but the parking of vehicles is more appropriate
on the straight section of road where forward visibility
for drivers passing a parked car is better than at the bend.
The provision of 'Keep Clear' Bar Markings can be reviewed
at an appropriate time if difficulties become apparent.
The prevailing Speed Limit is considered appropriate.

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix D
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of equality
to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate or
proportionate.
Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened

BES
H&T
Waiting restrictions, Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton
Tyas

Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

Neil Linfoot
Introduce waiting restrictions along the above
named road to address parking concerns

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?

Residents and 3rd parties have requested waiting
restrictions to address the parking concerns

Does the proposal involve a
No
significant commitment or removal of
resources? Please give details.
Is there likely to be an adverse impact on people with any of the following protected
characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed
characteristics?
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant adverse
impact or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be carried
out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep for advice
if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

No

Don’t know/No
info available









Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/12

Page 130

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix D
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)

Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date






No.

No impact


EIA not
Continue to
relevant or
full EIA:
proportionate:
The proposed waiting restrictions will have no
negative impact on people with protected
characteristics
(or
NYCCs
additional
characteristics) and will enable the County Council
to comply with its duties under Section 122 of the
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and Section 16 of
the Traffic Management Act 2004
Barrie Mason
03/06/21

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/13

Page 131

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix E
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 132

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal
Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Proposed Introduction of Waiting Restrictions – Middleton Tyas Lane,
Middleton Tyas
Introduction of waiting restrictions
Business and Environmental Services
Highways and Transportation
Neil Linfoot
Ian Beighton
19/04/21

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/14

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix E
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.

What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.

The implementation costs, if approved, will be met from the Area Office Signs, Lines and TROs budget. This will be undertaken within current programmes and
the overall impact will be minimal

Page 133
NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/15

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Emissions
from travel

X

reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

X

Page 134

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing use

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Appendix E
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X

X

X

of single use plastic

Reduce water consumption

X

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

X

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/16

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood risk,

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Appendix E
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X

Page 135

mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

X

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

X

Other (please state below)

X

Enhance conservation and wildlife

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/17

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix E
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.

The works will comply with the Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016 and in addition will utilise

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.

The proposals will be utilised to address a safety concern raised by residents and highway users raised in relation to the operation of the highway including
forward visibility and visibility from the services access road

Page 136

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Neil Linfoot
Improvement Manager
Highways and Transportation
Business and Environmental
N Linfoot
19/05/21

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 03/06/21c

NYCC – 14 June 2021 – Executive Members
Proposed Introduction Of Waiting Restrictions - Middleton Tyas Lane, Middleton Tyas/18

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

